Organic Reactions, Vol 7, Ch. 7, p 378-433 (1953)

CHAPTER 7

EPOXIDATION AND HYDROXYLATION OF ETHYLENIC COMPOUNDS WITH ORGANIC PERACIDS

Daniel Swern

Eastern Regional Research Laboratory *

CONTENTS

PAG	
Introduction	7 9
SCOPE	80
Epoxidation	80
Hydroxylation	83
Stereochemistry and Mechanism	85
Selection of Experimental Conditions	88
Experimental Procedures	91
Analysis of Peracids	92
Preparation of Peracids	93
	93
Perbenzoic Acid (Benzaldehyde-Air Method)	94
Monoperphthalic Acid	95
Peracetic Acid	95
Performic Acid	95
Epoxidation with Perbenzoic Acid	96
1,2-Epoxyethylbenzene (Styrene Oxide)	896
cis-9,10-Epoxystearic Acid	896
1,2-Epoxy-2-methyl-3-butene (Isoprene Monoxide)	397
Epoxidation with Monoperphthalic Acid	397
β - and α -Cholesteryl Oxide Acetates	397
Hydroxylation with Hydrogen Peroxide-Acetic Acid	397
9,10-Dihydroxystearic Acid (High-Melting Isomer)	397
Hydroxylation with Hydrogen Peroxide-Formic Acid	398
9,10-Dihydroxystearic Acid (Low-Melting Isomer)	398
1.2-Tetradecanediol	399
trans-1 2-Cyclohevanediol	100
Hydroxylation with Performic Acid	100
2,3-Dihydroxynonanoic Acid	100

*One of the laboratories of the Bureau of Agricultural and Industrial Chemistry, Agricultural Research Administration, U.S. Department of Agriculture.

EPOXIDATION OF ETHYLENIC COMPOUNDS	379
	PAGE
TABLE I. ETHYLENIC COMPOUNDS OXIDIZED WITH ORGANIC PERACIDS	401
A. Hydrocarbons and Substituted Hydrocarbons	402
B. Steroids	
C. Acids	415
D. Alcohols	417
E. Esters	418
F. Aldehydes and Ketones (including Carbohydrate derivatives)	421
G. Ethers	422
H. Miscellaneous	423
ADDENDUM TO TABLE I	494

INTRODUCTION

Oxiranes (α -epoxy compounds) and α -glycols can be prepared from olefins by a variety of methods. One of the most important and most generally applicable of these is the oxidation of ethylenic compounds with organic peracids, as exemplified by the accompanying equations.

$$-C = C - + RCO_{3}H \rightarrow -C - C + RCO_{2}H \rightarrow C - C - + RCO_{2}H \rightarrow C - C - C - + RCO_{2}H$$

$$-C - C - C - Hydrolysis - C - C - C - + RCO_{2}H$$

$$OH OCOR OH OH$$

Depending upon the peracid employed and/or the operating conditions, either an oxirane 1,2,3 or an α -glycol 2,4 can be obtained in good yield. Ordinarily the oxirane isolated can be hydrolyzed to the α -glycol.⁵ It is important to note that the oxidation step both in epoxidation and hydroxylation reactions with organic peracids is the conversion of the olefin to the oxirane.

The literature on the epoxidation and hydroxylation of compounds containing an isolated ethylenic linkage is so extensive that no attempt has been made to include conjugated systems in a comprehensive fashion. However, occasional comments on α,β -unsaturated acids are found on pp. 385 and 388, the preferential epoxidation of one ethylenic linkage in isoprene is described on p. 397, and a limited number of conjugated dienes and α,β -unsaturated acids are included in Table I.

¹ Findley, Swern, and Scanlan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 67, 412 (1945).

² Swern, Billen, and Scanlan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 68, 1504 (1946).

³ Swern, Findley, and Scanlan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 66, 1925 (1944).

⁴ Swern, Billen, Findley, and Scanlan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 67, 1786 (1945).

⁵ Swern, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 1235 (1948).

SCOPE

Epoxidation

Perbenzoic Acid. The discovery that oxiranes can be prepared from ethylenic compounds by epoxidation with an organic peracid is generally credited to the Russian chemist, Prileschajew, 6-9 who showed that perbenzoic acid is an efficient oxidizing agent for the epoxidation of isolated double bonds. This reaction is excellent for preparative pur-

$$-C = C - + C_6H_5CO_3H \xrightarrow{\text{Organic}} -C - C - + C_6H_5CO_2H$$

poses. It proceeds under mild conditions, and it is generally conducted in a non-reactive organic solvent, such as chloroform, ether, benzene, acetone or dioxane. The reaction time is usually short, but it varies with the number and nature of the groups attached to the ethylenic system.¹⁰ As a rule the yields are high.

Most investigators have preferred to prepare a solution of perbenzoic acid ^{3,11-15} for epoxidation. However, since perbenzoic acid can be prepared conveniently by the oxidation of benzaldehyde with oxygen, ^{3,16-19} some investigators have treated solutions of benzaldehyde and the unsaturated compound with air or oxygen, the perbenzoic acid being consumed as it is formed. This application of the perbenzoic acid epoxidation technique, in which separate preparation and isolation of the peracid is avoided, has been applied to the oxidation of methyl oleate, ²⁰ oleyl alcohol, ²⁰ octenes, ²¹ oleic acid, ^{3,22} stilbene, ²² styrene, ²² and squalene, ²² and good yields of oxiranes were generally obtained. When

- ⁶ Prileschajew, Ber., 42, 4811 (1909).
- ⁷ Prileschajew, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., 42, 1387 (1910) [J. Chem. Soc. Abstr., 100, I, 255 (1910)].
 - ⁸ Prileschajew, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., 43, 609 (1911) [C. A., 6, 348 (1912)].
 - ⁹ Prileschajew, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., 44, 613 (1912) [C. A., 6, 2407 (1912)].
 - ¹⁰ Swern, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **69**, 1692 (1947).
 - ¹¹ Braun, Org. Syntheses, Coll. Vol. 1, 431, 2nd ed. (1941).
 - ¹² Hibbert and Burt, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 47, 2240 (1925).
 - 13 Kolthoff, Lee, and Mairs, J. Polymer Sci., 2, 199 (1947).
 - ¹⁴ Levy and Lagrave, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 37, 1597 (1925).
 - ¹⁵ Tiffeneau, Org. Syntheses, 8, 30 (1928).
 - ¹⁶ Jorissen and van der Beek, Rec. trav. chim., 45, 245 (1926).
 - ¹⁷ Jorissen and van der Beek, Rec. trav. chim., **46**, 42 (1927).
 - ¹⁸ Jorissen and van der Beek, Rec. trav. chim., 49, 138 (1930).
 - ¹⁹ van der Beek, Rec. trav. chim., 47, 286 (1928).
 - ²⁰ Swern and Findley, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 4315 (1950).
 - ²¹ Pigulevskii, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 4, 616 (1934) [C. A., 29, 2145 (1935)].
 - ²² Raymond, J. chim. phys., 28, 480 (1931).

aliphatic aldehydes, such as acetaldehyde and butyraldehyde, are employed instead of benzaldehyde, poor yields of oxiranes result.^{20, 21, 23}

Epoxidation with perbenzoic acid has been employed in the preparation of oxiranes from an extremely large number and wide variety of ethylenic compounds (see Table I).

Monoperphthalic Acid. Another reagent that has been employed in the preparation of oxiranes is monoperphthalic acid; but this reagent, although efficient, has not been studied so extensively as perbenzoic acid, primarily because it offers only minor advantages in most reactions. When the epoxidation requires a long period of time for completion, however, the greater stability of monoperphthalic acid,24,25 compared to perbenzoic acid, is an advantage. Furthermore, since epoxidations with monoperphthalic acid are usually conducted in chloroform solution and the phthalic acid formed is insoluble, it is readily separated from the oxidation product. Although Böhme 26,27 was apparently the first to demonstrate that monoperphthalic acid is consumed by reaction with the ethylenic linkage, Chakravorty and Levin 25 were the first to isolate oxiranes by the oxidation of unsaturated compounds with this oxidizing agent. Epoxidation with monoperphthalic acid is conducted under the same conditions as with perbenzoic acid, and good yields of oxiranes are obtained. Epoxidation with monoperphthalic acid has been applied most extensively to naturally occurring products, such as sterols and polyenes. Ethylenic compounds which have been converted to oxiranes by epoxidation with monoperphthalic acid are listed in Table I.

Peracetic Acid. Since peracetic acid is one of the most conveniently prepared organic peracids, a study of its possible use as an epoxidizing agent was to be expected. For a long time, however, it was assumed that oxiranes could not be prepared by the epoxidation of olefins with peracetic acid since the products isolated from such reactions were either α -glycols or their monoacetates. The first successful epoxidation with peracetic acid was reported by Böeseken, Smit, and Gaster, who obtained methyl 9,10,12,13-diepoxystearate from methyl linoleate, but the yields were extremely poor and the major proportion of the product consisted of a polymer of undetermined constitution. In a systematic study of the reaction of unsaturated compounds with peracetic acid in

²³ Findley and Swern, U. S. pat. 2,567,930 [C. A., 46, 3560 (1952)].

²⁴ Baeyer and Villiger, Ber., 34, 762 (1901).

²⁵ Chakravorty and Levin, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 64, 2317 (1942).

²⁶ Böhme, Ber., **70**, 379 (1937).

²⁷ Böhme and Steinke, Ber., 70, 1709 (1937).

²⁸ Böeseken, Smit, and Gaster, Proc. Acad. Sci. Amsterdam, 32, 377 (1929).

²⁹ Smit, Rec. trav. chim., 49, 675 (1930).

³⁰ Swern, unpublished results.

acetic acid solution and in inert solvents, Arbusow and Michailow 31,32 observed that hydroxy acetates were formed in acetic acid while good yields of oxiranes were obtained in inert solvents. They concluded that the behavior of peracetic acid toward olefins is the same as that of perbenzoic acid, but that when an acetic acid solution is employed the oxirane is converted to the hydroxy acetate by further reaction with acetic acid. The apparent necessity for employing peracetic acid in an inert solvent to obtain good yields of oxiranes discouraged the general use of peracetic acid for epoxidation, because peracetic acid can be prepared and used most conveniently in acetic acid, whereas its isolation free (or substantially free) of acetic acid is time-consuming and hazardous.

Subsequently, however, in connection with a kinetic study of the reaction of peracetic acid in acetic acid solution with various long-chain olefins, suitable reaction conditions were determined for the efficient conversion of ethylenic compounds to oxiranes. To obtain good yields of oxiranes it is necessary to operate at moderate temperatures (20–25° is preferred), to keep the reaction time as short as possible and to exclude strong acids, which catalyze the opening of the oxirane ring by acetic acid. The reaction was shown to be general and afforded a simple and convenient method for the preparation of oxirane compounds in quantity. Isolation of pure peracetic acid and employment of inert solvents were unnecessary. Yields of oxiranes, however, were usually lower than when perbenzoic or monoperphthalic acid was employed. In the peracetic acid epoxidation of compounds containing both an ethylenic and an acetylenic linkage, it has been reported that only the double bond is attacked.33,34 Acetylenic compounds react with peracetic acid, but the rates of reaction are only about one-thousandth as great as the rates of reaction of analogous ethylenic compounds. Three atoms of oxygen add, and the acetylenic linkage is cleaved. Oxirenes, -C-----C--, are

intermediates and have been isolated from some reactions.34a

Ethylenic compounds which have been converted to oxiranes by epoxidation with peracetic acid are listed in Table I.

Percamphoric Acid. Percamphoric acid has been employed to convert pinene and cholesterol to the corresponding oxiranes.35

Performic Acid. Performic acid is generally considered not to be an epoxidation reagent because the high acidity of formic acid (employed either as solvent or formed in the oxidation) causes most oxirane rings to open rapidly. It has been shown recently, however, that α -diisobutylene yields an isolable oxirane on oxidation with performic acid, although the yield is low.36 By employing only small quantities of formic acid as solvent and oxygen carrier, and in some cases by adding small amounts of sodium hydroxide, it has been reported that methyl oleate, octyl oleate, propylene glycol dioleate, and soybean oil can be converted to oxiranes in fair yields.37 Recently, two steroids have been converted to oxiranes by epoxidation with performic acid.38,39

The diisobutylenes behave somewhat abnormally on reaction with both performic and peracetic acids, yielding, besides the expected products, unsaturated alcohols, an aldehyde, a ketone, a cyclic diether, and high-boiling products.^{36, 40–43}

Hydroxylation

Peracetic Acid. The use of peracetic acid for the preparation of α -glycols from unsaturated substances probably exceeds that of all other organic peracids combined. Peracetic acid is usually prepared and employed in either of two ways: (1) the peracid is preformed by the reaction of acetic acid or acetic anhydride with 25-90% hydrogen peroxide 1,44-47 and then mixed with the unsaturated compound, or (2) the unsaturated compound is mixed with hydrogen peroxide and acetic acid, and the peracetic acid is consumed as it is formed.^{4,48} Under suitable conditions (p. 381) oxiranes are obtained in good yields; but in the manner that the reactions have usually been carried out (long reaction times, and/or high temperatures, and/or in the presence of sulfuric acid), the products isolated are hydroxy acetates formed by the reaction of excess acetic acid with the oxirane produced initially. The hydroxy

³¹ Arbusow and Michailow, J. prakt. Chem., **127**, 1 (1930).

³² Arbusow and Michailow, J. prakt. Chem., **127**, 92 (1930).

³³ Malenok and Sologub, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 10, 150 (1940) [C. A., 34, 7286 (1940)].

³⁴ Malenok and Sologub, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 11, 983 (1941) [C. A., 37, 355 (1943)].

³⁴a Schlubach and Franzen, Ann., 577, 60 (1952).

³⁵ Milas and Cliff, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 55, 352 (1933).

³⁶ Byers and Hickinbottom, J. Chem. Soc., 1948, 1328.

³⁷ Niederhauser and Koroly, U. S. pat. 2,485,160 [C. A., 44, 7346 (1950)].

³⁸ Djerassi, Mancera, Stork, and Rosenkranz, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 4496 (1951).

³⁹ Stork, Romo, Rosenkranz, and Djerassi, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 3546 (1951).

⁴⁰ Byers and Hickinbottom, J. Chem. Soc., 1948, 284.

⁴¹ Byers and Hickinbottom, Nature, 158, 341 (1946).

⁴² Hickinbottom, J. Chem. Soc., **1948**, 1331.

⁴³ Hickinbottom, Nature, **159**, 844 (1947).

⁴⁴ D'Ans and Frey, Ber., 45, 1845 (1912).

⁴⁵ D'Ans and Frey, Z. anorg. Chem., 84, 145 (1914).

⁴⁶ D'Ans and Kneip, Ber., 48, 1136 (1915).

⁴⁷ Greenspan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 68, 907 (1946).

⁴⁸ Greenspan, Ind. Eng. Chem., 39, 847 (1947).

acetates are readily hydrolyzable to α -glycols in excellent yield.^{49–52} Although good yields of glycols were reported by some early investigators, the operating conditions employed caused the loss of much active oxygen by decomposition. With sulfuric acid as the catalyst, moderate temperatures (40°), and short reaction periods, excellent yields of α -glycols are obtained with stoichiometric quantities of 25–30% hydrogen peroxide.4 Since the sulfuric acid catalyzes the formation of peracetic acid and the peracid is rapidly consumed at 40°, the reaction is complete in a few hours and little active oxygen is lost. This procedure is one of the most efficient for converting long-chain olefins to α -glycols. Slightly higher yields of α -glycols are obtained when 90% hydrogen peroxide is employed.

Ethylenic compounds which have been converted to α -glycols by oxidation with peracetic acid, either preformed or prepared and utilized in situ, are listed in Table I. Some of the unsaturated substances listed have been converted to hydroxy acetates rather than to α -glycols, but the conversion to glycols is effected so readily by hydrolysis that these substances have also been included.

Performic Acid. An even more efficient and rapid hydroxylation technique consists in the reaction of unsaturated compounds with performic acid.⁴ Not only is performic acid formed rapidly when 25-90% hydrogen peroxide and formic acid are mixed,44-47,53 but it also reacts rapidly and completely with the unsaturated linkage. By means of this hydroxylation reaction, conversion of an unsaturated compound to an α -glycol is accomplished within a short time, and approximately stoichiometric quantities of hydrogen peroxide can be employed. The initial product of oxidation is not the α -glycol but the oxirane, which is rapidly converted in most cases to a hydroxy formate as a result of the high acidity of formic acid. Hydroxy formates are the products usually isolated and are readily converted to the α -glycols by hydrolysis with dilute aqueous alkali or even by exposure to moist air or heating with water.⁵ It is important to note that performic acid is preferably not prepared separately, because it is unstable and loses oxygen rapidly,46,47,53,54 but it is prepared and utilized in situ.4 Somewhat more complete hydroxylation is obtained by employing 90% hydrogen peroxide instead of the 25–30% concentration.⁴⁸

Concentrated solutions of performic acid can be used in the hydroxyl-

ation of α,β -unsaturated acids to give fair yields of dihydroxy acids within a relatively short time. 55 Dilute solutions of organic peracids either are ineffective in hydroxylation of such compounds, or extremely long reaction times are required during which loss of active oxygen occurs.

The performic acid oxidation of ethylenic compounds having a hydroxyl group on a carbon atom directly adjacent to the ethylenic group yields appreciable amounts of acidic chain cleavage products in addition to about 50% of the expected hydroxylation products.⁵⁶

In the peracetic and performic acid hydroxylation of compounds containing both an ethylenic and an acetylenic linkage only the double bond is attacked.^{34a, 57-60}

Ethylenic compounds converted to α -glycols by oxidation with performic acid are listed in Table I.

Perbenzoic, Monoperphthalic, or Percamphoric Acid. These acids can be employed for the preparation of α -glycols from olefins by hydrolyzing the oxiranes which are formed first. In general, there is no advantage in employing the aromatic peracids to prepare α -glycols when two more-efficient peracids (performic and peracetic acid) are available for this purpose. In the presence of water or with unusually long reaction times, reactions have been reported in which α -glycols or their monobenzoates rather than oxiranes were obtained from oxidations of olefins with perbenzoic acid.

Ethylenic compounds which have been converted to α -glycols or to hydroxybenzoates by oxidation with perbenzoic acid are listed in Table I.

STEREOCHEMISTRY AND MECHANISM

Although the structure of organic peracids, usually written RCO₃H, is not known, it is evident from their numerous and varied reactions that they are electrophilic reagents.¹⁰ As the nucleophilic nature of an olefin is increased by replacement of the hydrogen atoms of its ethylenic linkage with electron-releasing groups, the rate of reaction with organic peracids increases considerably (see p. 388). Since peracid reactions investigated so far are subject to general acid catalysis, 61,62 it has been

⁴⁹ Hilditch, J. Chem. Soc., **1926**, 1828.

⁵⁰ Hilditch and Lea, J. Chem. Soc., 1927, 3106.

⁵¹ Scanlan and Swern, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 62, 2305 (1940).

⁵² Scanlan and Swern, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **62**, 2309 (1940).

⁵³ Toennies and Homiller, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **64**, 3054 (1942).

⁵⁴ Swern and Findley, unpublished results.

⁵⁵ English and Gregory, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 69, 2120 (1947).

⁵⁶ Ross, Gebhart, and Gerecht, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 282 (1949).

⁵⁷ Evans, Fraser, and Owen, J. Chem. Soc., 1949, 248.

⁵⁸ Malenok, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 9, 1947 (1939) [C. A., 34, 4385 (1940)].

⁵⁹ Malenok and Sologub, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 6, 1904 (1936) [C. A., 31, 4285] (1937)].

⁶⁰ Raphael, J. Chem. Soc., **1949**, S44.

⁶¹ Friess, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 2571 (1949).

⁶² Waters, J. Chem. Soc., 1948, 1574.

proposed that the attacking moiety in peracid oxidations is the electropositively polarized (electrophilic) hydroxyl group [O:H]⁺.^{63, 64} The
reaction of an olefin, such as propylene, with a peracid may, therefore,
be represented as follows.¹⁰

$$\begin{array}{c} CH_{3} \rightarrow -CH = \overset{\frown}{C}H_{2} + \overset{\smile}{[O:H]^{+}} \rightarrow \\ & [CH_{3} \rightarrow -CH - CH_{2}] \rightarrow CH_{3} - CH - -CH_{2} + H^{+} \\ & \overset{\smile}{:O:} \\ & \overset{\smile}{H} \end{array}$$

This simple formulation, however, does not account for the striking stereospecificity of the reaction which precludes a free carbonium ion intermediate. A more reasonable alternative mechanism would involve essentially direct formation of the conjugate acid of the oxirane by donation of $[O:H]^+$ to the olefin by a peracid-general acid complex in a manner similar to that shown in the accompanying equation. The olefin-

[O:H]⁺ part of the transition state of such a process would be similar to the so-called π-complexes.⁶⁵ This mechanism obviates any necessity for postulation of rapid and reversible [O:H]⁺ formation from peracid and general acid (HA) followed by a slow attack of [O:H]⁺ on the double bond. It is also a more reasonable reaction path in the non-polar solvents often used as reaction media.

As discussed earlier (pp. 380-385) the product isolated may be the

oxirane or the hydroxy acyloxy compound, depending on the experimental conditions, the peracid used, and the stability of the oxirane.

The initial oxidation step in epoxidation and hydroxylation with organic peracids is the same, and it has generally been assumed that this reaction proceeds by *cis* addition to the double bond.^{5,66} Recently, unequivocal evidence was obtained to substantiate this assumption. It was shown by x-ray diffraction and infrared absorption studies that oleic acid and oleyl alcohol (both *cis* olefins) yield *cis*-9,10-epoxystearic acid and *cis*-9,10-epoxyoctadecanol, respectively, on epoxidation with peracetic or perbenzoic acid, and the corresponding *trans* olefins, elaidic acid and elaidyl alcohol, yield *trans*-9,10-epoxystearic acid and *trans*-9,10-epoxyoctadecanol, respectively.⁶⁷

Opening of the oxirane ring, in the preparation of α -glycols from the corresponding oxiranes, is accompanied by inversion whether the reaction is conducted in neutral, acidic, or alkaline media. The only exception to this generalization apparently is the opening of an oxirane ring in the terminal position of an aliphatic chain. In this case, if the ring-opening reagent attacks the terminal position, inversion cannot occur. A reaction scheme correlating the configurational relationships in the conversion of oleic and elaidic acids (cis- and trans-9-octadecenoic acids, respectively) to 9,10-dihydroxystearic acids by way of the intermediate oxiranes has recently been published. This scheme is self-consistent and is in harmony with accepted theories of inversions, double-bond addition reactions, and the vast amount of experimental data available. This reaction sequence is undoubtedly of general applicability to other olefins with non-terminal double bonds.

It should be noted that the oxirane obtained by epoxidation of an olefin with organic peracids (cis addition) is identical with that obtained by hypohalogenation (trans addition) followed by dehydrohalogenation (inversion occurs). In the latter preparative procedure two inversions have occurred; this gives the same stereochemical result as no inversions.

Hydroxylation of olefins with potassium permanganate, 70-73 t-butyl hydroperoxide (osmium tetroxide catalyst), 74, 75, 76 or by photochemical

⁶³ Weisenborn and Taub, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74, 1329 (1952).

⁶⁴ Roitt and Waters, J. Chem. Soc., 1949, 3060.

⁶⁵ M. J. S. Dewar, The Electronic Theory of Organic Chemistry, Oxford University Press, 1949.

⁶⁶ Braun, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 51, 228 (1929).

⁶⁷ Witnauer and Swern, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 3364 (1950).

⁶⁸ Abderhalden and Eichwald, Ber., 48, 1847 (1915).

⁶⁹ Sowden and Fischer, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 64, 1291 (1942).

⁷⁰ Böeseken, Rec. trav. chim., 47, 683 (1928).

⁷¹ Böeseken and Cohen, Rec. trav. chim., 47, 839 (1928).

⁷² King, J. Chem. Soc., **1943**, 37.

⁷³ Kuhn and Ebel, Ber., **58**, 919 (1925).

⁷⁴ Milas, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **59**, 2342 (1937).

⁷⁵ Milas and Sussman, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 58, 1302 (1936).

⁷⁶ Milas, Sussman, and Mason, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 61, 1844 (1939).

addition of hydrogen peroxide to the double bond ⁷⁷ proceeds by cis addition. Catalytic hydroxylation of olefins with hydrogen peroxide and other inorganic catalysts, such as pertungstic acid, pervanadic acid, or selenium dioxide, however, proceeds by trans addition.⁷⁸

SELECTION OF EXPERIMENTAL CONDITIONS

Since the oxirane group is extremely reactive and undergoes ring opening with various types of compounds which contain active hydrogen atoms, it is obvious that conditions for epoxidation must be selected with care. It is of paramount importance to avoid high reaction temperatures 1 and to exclude strongly acidic materials from the reaction mixtures 4 if high yields are to be obtained. In epoxidations with perbenzoic and monoperphthalic acids an inert solvent is employed; in epoxidations with peracetic acid, acetic acid may be used as the solvent, provided that strong acids are absent and reaction temperatures below about 30° are employed.

With unsaturated substances containing isolated double bonds, such as 2-pentene, 2-butene, oleic acid, and oleyl alcohol, epoxidation is rapid and is usually complete within eight to twenty-four hours at room temperature or below. If electron-releasing groups are attached to or are in close proximity to the ethylenic linkage, as in 2-methylpropene, 2methyl-2-butene, and tetramethylethylene, the reaction is considerably accelerated; 10 if electron-attracting groups are attached to or are in close proximity to the ethylenic linkage, as in cinnamic, maleic, fumaric, crotonic, 2-pentenoic, and 2-hexenoic acids and their esters, the reaction is slowed down.¹⁰ The wide range of specific reaction rates in related groups of compounds is shown most strikingly by comparing ethylene $(k \times 10^3 = 0.19)$ with 2-methyl-2-butene $(k \times 10^3 = ca. 1000)$, cyclobutene $(k \times 10^3 = 21)$ with 1-methylcyclopentene $(k \times 10^3 = 2200)$, sorbic acid $(k \times 10^3 = 0.04)$ with oleic acid $(k \times 10^3 = 384)$, allylbenzene $(k \times 10^3 = 2.0)$ with 1-phenyl-1-propene $(k \times 10^3 = 46)$, 1,4-dihydronaphthalene $(k \times 10^3 = 37)$ with 1,2-dihydronaphthalene $(k \times 10^3 = 230-240)$, cinnamic acid $(k \times 10^3 = 0.13)$ with cinnamyl alcohol $(k \times 10^3 = 203)$, 1-phenyl-2-butene $(k \times 10^3 = 10)$ with 1phenyl-1-butene $(k \times 10^3 = 80)$, eugenol $(k \times 10^3 = 2.2)$ with isoeugenol $(k \times 10^3 = 127)$, and safrole $(k \times 10^3 = 1.3)$ with isosafrole $(k \times 10^3 = 148)^{10,79}$ Furthermore, the specific reaction rate of tetramethylethylene with peracetic acid at 25.8° is too high to be measured. 80, 81 Selected references describing kinetic studies are 2, 28, and 80-88.

The rates of oxidations with peracids can be determined readily with a minimum of experimental effort by measuring unconsumed peroxide at suitable time intervals. 11, 13, 89, 90, 91 By following the disappearance of active oxygen, the reaction can be terminated at exactly the right time, thereby minimizing side reactions and loss of active oxygen. Furthermore, the determination of unconsumed peroxide should be carried out in all peracid oxidations in which distillation techniques are employed in the recovery of solvent and in the isolation of reaction products. Inreactions which proceed slowly, a large amount of unconsumed peracid may be present in the distillation charge and cause an explosion if the peroxide is not destroyed.

Although a wide range of conditions can be employed in the preparation of α -glycols, temperatures above 50° are undesirable because significant loss of active oxygen occurs. Early workers, who were not concerned with efficient use of active oxygen, operated at high temperatures and of necessity employed large excesses of hydrogen peroxide or peracid. Reaction temperatures below 5-10° may also be disadvantageous since they make the reaction time objectionably long.

To help in the selection of hydroxylation techniques, the methods just discussed are listed in decreasing order of efficiency and over-all desirability from the laboratory standpoint.

- 1. Oxidation with 30% hydrogen peroxide in formic acid solution at 40°; 1.025-1.05 moles of hydrogen peroxide per ethylenic linkage.2,4 This method is admirably suited for the hydroxylation of isolated double bonds and is probably the best hydroxylation technique employing organic peracids. See also method 3.
- 2. Oxidation with 30% hydrogen peroxide in acetic acid solution containing catalytic quantities of sulfuric acid at 40°; 1.025-1.05 moles of hydrogen peroxide per ethylenic linkage.2,4

⁷⁷ Milas, Kurz, and Anslow, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **59**, 543 (1937).

⁷⁸ Mugdan and Young, J. Chem. Soc., **1949**, 2988.

⁷⁹ Swern, Chem. Revs., **45**, 1 (1949).

⁸⁰ Böeseken and Stuurman, Proc. Acad. Sci. Amsterdam, 39, 2 (1936) [C. A., 30, 3304] (1936)].

⁸¹ Böeseken and Stuurman, Rec. trav. chim., 56, 1034 (1937).

⁸² Bodendorf, Arch. Pharm., 268, 491 (1930).

⁸⁸ Böeseken and Blumberger, Rec. trav. chim., 44, 90 (1925).

⁸⁴ Böeseken and Hanegraaff, Rec. trav. chim., 61, 69 (1942).

⁸⁵ Heinänen, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fennicae, A59, No. 13, 3 (1943) [C. A., 41, 2307 (1947)].

⁸⁶ Smit, Rec. trav. chim., 49, 686 (1930).

⁸⁷ Stuurman, Proc. Acad. Sci. Amsterdam, 38, 450 (1935) [C. A., 29, 4657 (1935)].

⁸⁸ J. Stuurman, thesis, University of Delft, 1936.

⁸⁹ Kolthoff and Menzel, Die Massanalyse, Vol. II, 2nd ed., p. 413, Springer, Berlin, 1931.

⁹⁰ Marks and Morrell, Analyst, **54**, 503 (1929).

⁹¹ Wheeler, Oil and Soap, 9, 89 (1932).

- 3. The same as 1 and 2, but employing 90% hydrogen peroxide. 48, 55 Although slightly more complete reaction is obtained with 90% hydrogen peroxide, the hazards attendant upon its use make it less desirable for laboratory investigation. 92, 93, 94 By use of the more concentrated peracids, however, ethylenic linkages adjacent to carboxyl groups can be hydroxylated readily.⁵⁵
- 4. Prior preparation of performic or peracetic acids and employment of the peracids under conditions similar to 1, 2, and 3 above.
- 5. Epoxidation with peracetic, perbenzoic, or monoperphthalic acid, followed by hydrolysis. The only virtue of this technique, probably, is that one can obtain either the oxirane or the α -glycol from a given unsaturated substance.

Because of the instability of performic acid, there is usually little point in its separate preparation (method 4). If it is prepared separately, however, it should be used immediately. Performic acid of 90% strength is highly explosive. 94a In contrast to performic acid, peracetic acid is relatively stable and can be stored conveniently. In the absence of catalysts, concentrated solutions of peracetic acid are fairly stable at room temperature (15-25°); 87-95% solutions remain virtually unchanged on standing for about five weeks,46 the 50% solution shows no loss of peracid after storage for two weeks,46 and the 45% solution retains 75% of the peracid after seven weeks. The 45% solution retains 94% of the peracid after seven weeks of storage if it is stabilized with sodium pyrophosphate 47 (other stabilizers have also been suggested).95,96 Five to ten per cent solutions of peracetic acid in acetic acid, however, show significant losses of active oxygen at room temperature but little loss at 0 to 5°. Although peracetic acid can be prepared by efficient processes and only a small amount of active oxygen is lost or unavailable for oxidative purposes, the separate preparation of the peracid is a time-consuming step in the hydroxylation reaction, and method 2 is more desirable. Concentrated solutions of peracetic acid have recently become commercially available.97

There is a wide variety of methods for preparing organic peracids, and many solvents have been suggested for use in their preparation, isolation, and application as oxidizing agents. This phase of peracid chemistry is not sufficiently pertinent to be discussed here in detail, but information has recently been published on this subject.⁷⁹ The particular oxidative method and solvent selected will depend, in large part, on the solubility of the peracid and on the structure of the unsaturated substance and the oxidation products. Furthermore, the stability of the peracid and the oxidation products in the solvent medium and the ease of separation of the desired products from the other materials present have an important bearing on the selection of reaction conditions. The solvent has been reported to affect the rates of decomposition of peracids as well as their rates of reaction with unsaturated substances.7, 13, 83, 98-101

For information regarding other organic peracids (properties, methods of preparation, special techniques, etc.) reference 79 can be consulted.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Caution. All preparations of and reactions with organic peracids should be conducted behind a safety shield, because a reaction occasionally proceeds with uncontrollable violence. When an olefin of unknown structure or one that contains at least three electron-releasing groups attached to or in close proximity to the ethylenic linkage is epoxidized or hydroxylated for the first time, the reaction should be run on a small scale (preferably 0.1 mole or less), and provision should be made for efficient cooling. Detailed information regarding the properties of concentrated hydrogen peroxide 92, 93, 94, 102-105 and organic peracids 79 has recently been published.

Peracid oxidation mixtures should not be distilled unless an analysis has indicated the absence or low concentration of active oxygen. When the peracid content is low, acetic and formic acids can be safely and completely distilled from oxidation reactions at or below room temperature by the use of low pressure. Peracids and other peroxides can be conveniently destroyed by the addition of ferrous sulfate, sodium bisulfite, or other reducing agents.

⁹² Bellinger, Friedman, Bauer, Eastes, and Bull, Ind. Eng. Chem., 38, 310 (1946).

⁹³ Bellinger, Friedman, Bauer, Eastes, and Edmonds, Ind. Eng. Chem., 38, 627 (1946).

⁹⁴ Shanley and Greenspan, Ind. Eng. Chem., **39**, 1536 (1947).

^{94a} Weingartshofer-Olmos and Giguère, Chem. Eng. News, 30, 3041 (1952).

⁹⁵ Naamlooze Venootschap Industrieele Maatschappij Voorheen Noury and Van Der Lande and Van Der Lande, Brit. pat. 234,163 [C. A., 20, 768 (1926)].

⁹⁶ Reichert, McNeight, and Elston, U. S. pat. 2,347,434 [C. A., 39, 89 (1945)].

⁹⁷ Buffalo Electrochemical Co., Peracetic Acid Data Sheet 1 (1947).

⁹⁸ Berezovskaya and Semikhatova, Bull. acad. sci. U.R.S.S., Classe sci. math. nat., 1934, 1583, 1589 [C. A., **29**, 6130 (1935)].

⁹⁹ Calderwood and Lane, J. Phys. Chem., 45, 108 (1941).

¹⁰⁰ Lagrave, Ann. Chim., [10] 8, 363 (1927).

¹⁰¹ Meerwein, Ogait, Prang, and Serini, J. prakt. Chem., 113, 9 (1926).

¹⁰² Bretschger and Shanley, Trans. Electrochem. Soc., 92, 10 pp. (1947) preprint.

¹⁰³ McKee, Mech. Eng., **68**, 1045 (1946).

¹⁰⁴ Médard, Compt. rend., 222, 1491 (1946).

¹⁰⁵ Schumb, Ind. Eng. Chem., 41, 992 (1949).

Analysis of Peracids

Perbenzoic Acid. Perbenzoic acid in an organic solvent can be determined iodimetrically by shaking the solution with an aqueous acetic acid solution of potassium iodide. A known volume of the perbenzoic acid solution is pipetted into an iodine flask containing 50 ml. of 0.4 N acetic acid and 1 g. of potassium iodide, the mixture is shaken, and the liberated iodine is titrated with 0.05–0.1 N sodium thiosulfate solution, starch indicator being used.

In following the course of the oxidation of water-insoluble substances which precipitate upon addition of the solution to the aqueous acetic acid, a sharper end point is obtained by adding the perbenzoic acid solution to 25 ml. of a chloroform-acetic acid solution (3:2 by volume). Two milliliters of saturated potassium iodide solution is added, and the mixture is allowed to stand for five minutes. Seventy-five milliliters of water is added, the solution is shaken, and the liberated iodine is titrated with 0.05–0.1 N sodium thiosulfate. One milliliter of 0.1 N sodium thiosulfate is equivalent to 0.00690 g. of perbenzoic acid.

Monoperphthalic Acid. Monoperphthalic acid can be determined by the same methods employed for perbenzoic acid. An alternative procedure 106 is to add 2 ml. of the solution to 30 ml. of 20% aqueous potassium iodide and titrate the liberated iodine after 10 minutes with 0.05~N sodium thiosulfate solution. One milliliter of 0.05~N sodium thiosulfate is equivalent to 0.00455~g. of monoperphthalic acid.

Peracetic Acid. The peroxide components in the peracetic acid solutions described below are determined on a single sample as follows: 44,45 0.2-2 ml. of the solution (accurately dispensed from a pipette or weighed) is diluted with 50 ml. of 4 N aqueous sulfuric acid which has been cooled to 0° . This solution is titrated rapidly with 0.1 N potassium permanganate to a pink end point. This determines unreacted hydrogen peroxide; 1 ml. of 0.1 N potassium permanganate is equivalent to 0.00170 g. of hydrogen peroxide. The peracetic acid is determined by adding 2 ml. of saturated aqueous potassium iodide to the same solution and rapidly titrating with 0.1 N sodium thiosulfate, starch indicator being used; 1 ml. of $0.1\ N$ sodium thiosulfate is equivalent to $0.00380\ g$. of peracetic acid. At this point, the flask and its contents are heated on the steam bath for five to ten minutes, causing a return of the blue color, and liberated iodine is titrated with 0.1 N sodium thiosulfate. The last titration gives the diacetyl peroxide content; 1 ml. of 0.1 Nsodium thiosulfate is equivalent to 0.00590 g. of diacetyl peroxide. It

has been reported that ceric sulfate is more satisfactory than potassium permanganate for determination of residual hydrogen peroxide. 107

In following the consumption of active oxygen during the oxidation of water-insoluble substances with peracetic acid, the procedure described under the analysis of perbenzoic acid should be employed. This determines total active oxygen and not peracetic acid alone, but the difference between the titrations at succeeding time intervals gives a measure of peracetic acid consumed.

Performic Acid. The procedures described in the analysis of peracetic acid are used.

Preparation of Peracids

Perbenzoic Acid (Benzoyl Peroxide-Sodium Methoxide Method). Directions published in Organic Syntheses ¹¹ are probably the most satisfactory for preparing stable solutions of perbenzoic acid. Briefly, this method consists in (a) allowing benzoyl peroxide to react with sodium methoxide in chloroform-methanol solution, (b) extracting the sodium perbenzoate solution with water, (c) acidifying with sulfuric acid, and (d) extracting the perbenzoic acid with chloroform. Yields of perbenzoic acid of about 85% are obtained. Do not recrystallize benzoyl peroxide from hot chloroform, as suggested in the original Organic Syntheses procedure, as this operation is hazardous. Benzoyl peroxide may be purified safely by adding methanol to a chloroform solution of the peroxide at room temperature. A recrystallized grade is commercially available.

For preparation of large quantities of perbenzoic acid or solutions which are to be stored for a long time, a modified procedure has been recommended.¹³

- (a) The mixture is kept below 0° during the addition of the chloroform solution of benzoyl peroxide to the methanol solution of sodium methoxide. Since this reaction is highly exothermic, a large quantity of salt-ice freezing mixture at -15° is employed to cool the reaction flask, the benzoyl peroxide solution is added at a slow, even rate of about 15-20 ml. per minute, and the reaction flask is swirled vigorously and continuously during the addition. There is no need to wait four to five minutes, as specified in the original procedure 11 before extracting the mixture with water.
- (b) Instead of transferring the chloroform-methanol solution containing sodium perbenzoate to a separatory funnel, about 150 ml. of

¹⁰⁷ Greenspan and MacKellar, Anal. Chem., 20, 1061 (1948).

¹⁰⁸ Nozaki and Bartlett, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 68, 1686 (1946).

¹⁰⁹ Lucidol Corporation, Buffalo, New York.

water containing chopped ice is added to the reaction mixture which is rapidly swirled. The mixture is then transferred to the separatory funnel, and 350 ml. of water containing chopped ice is added to the rapidly swirled material. In this way, the formation of lumps which dissolve slowly is prevented.

- (c) The emulsion that collects at the interface of the aqueous sodium perbenzoate phase and the chloroform phase is discarded. Only three to five minutes is allowed for separation of the phases. Likewise, emulsions formed during the washing of the aqueous layer are discarded.
- (d) The aqueous phase is washed with two 100-ml. portions of carbon tetrachloride, instead of chloroform.
- (e) After acidification, the aqueous solution is extracted with reagent-grade benzene rather than chloroform. At this point, the temperature of the solution should be above 5°, to prevent freezing of the benzene.
- (f) The benzene solution is washed with water, dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate (calcium chloride sometimes causes a sudden decomposition of the peracid ¹¹), and stored in the dark at about 10° until used.

Crystalline perbenzoic acid can be obtained by removal of the solvent under vacuum, as described in *Organic Syntheses*, and purified by recrystallization from chloroform-ethanol mixtures or from petroleum ether. Perbenzoic acid melts at about 41° and is soluble in the common organic solvents, except cold petroleum ether.

Perbenzoic Acid (Benzaldehyde-Air Method).³ The air oxidation of benzaldehyde in acetone solution irradiated with ultraviolet light is a convenient method for the preparation of moderately large quantities of perbenzoic acid.

In a 5-l. three-necked Pyrex flask equipped with a thermometer, a solid carbon dioxide-cooled reflux condenser, and two fritted glass disks reaching to the bottom of the flask, 520 g. (4.9 moles) of freshly distilled benzaldehyde is dissolved in 4 l. of acetone. The flask is immersed in an ice-water bath and irradiated from the top with three 125-watt Hanovia quartz mercury-vapor lamps, symmetrically placed around the flask, while a rapid stream of dry air is passed through the fritted disks and into the solution for twenty-four hours at 5–10°. The reaction is conducted in a fume hood because of the formation of ozone. If the reaction cannot be run without interruption, the acetone solution can be stored at 5–10° with little or no loss of perbenzoic acid. After about twenty-four hours, the rate of peracid formation decreases considerably

and the solution then contains about 2 moles of perbenzoic acid. The yield is 40-45%.

Monoperphthalic Acid. The procedure described in Organic Syntheses, 106 consisting in the reaction of phthalic anhydride with alkaline 30% aqueous hydrogen peroxide, is satisfactory, and gives 65–70% yields. It has been reported to be advantageous to employ 40% sodium hydroxide solution and to add crushed ice directly to the reaction mixture. In this procedure, the peracid is extracted with ether, but, if ether is not a suitable solvent for the subsequent oxidation reactions, it can be removed readily and replaced by dioxane or other solvent by a procedure described in Organic Syntheses. 106

Peracetic Acid. 1,47 In a 5-1. three-necked flask equipped with a mechanically driven glass stirrer, a thermometer, and a separatory funnel is placed 2250 g. of acetic anhydride, which has been filtered through glass wool to remove particles which may catalyze peroxide decomposition. The thermometer should be immersed in the liquid, and at least one neck of the flask should be open to the atmosphere. The acetic anhydride is warmed to 35– 40° in a water bath into which cold or warm water can be run at will and removed rapidly if necessary. By means of the separatory funnel, 500 g. of 25-30% hydrogen peroxide is added in about one hour with agitation, the temperature being maintained at 40°. The reaction becomes mildly exothermic soon after the addition of hydrogen peroxide is started, and cooling is required for three to four hours after the addition is complete to maintain the temperature at 40° (bath temperature 25-30°). The solution is allowed to stand overnight at room temperature. The concentration of peracetic acid is then about 0.8–1.2 M (6–9%). The yield is 60–90%. The solution contains diacetyl peroxide and some unconverted hydrogen peroxide in addition to peracetic acid and acetic acid.

A concentrated solution of peracetic acid ⁴⁷ is prepared by cautiously adding 9.1 g. of 90% hydrogen peroxide to a stirred solution of 10 g. of acetic acid and 0.11 ml. of concentrated sulfuric acid contained in a flask immersed in a water bath at 22–23°. At the end of four hours, the peracetic acid content of the solution is about 44%; it rises to a maximum of 46% within twelve to fifteen hours.

Performic Acid.^{47,53,54} In a 500-ml. Erlenmeyer flask, 25 g. of 25–30% hydrogen peroxide and 250 g. of 98–100% formic acid are mixed at room temperature. Since the reaction is only mildly exothermic (temperature rise 1–2°), no cooling is required in batches of this size. The maximum content of performic acid (approximately 5%) is obtained within thirty

¹¹⁰ Maan, Rec. trav. chim., 48, 332 (1929).

¹¹¹ Baeyer and Villiger, Ber., **33**, 1569 (1900).

¹¹² Bachman and Cooper, J. Org. Chem., 9, 302 (1944).

to sixty minutes, as determined by the analytical techniques already described.

A concentrated solution of performic acid is prepared by cautiously adding 28.4 g. of 90% hydrogen peroxide to a stirred solution of 23.0 g. of 98–100% formic acid and 0.28 ml. of concentrated sulfuric acid contained in a flask immersed in a water bath at 22–23°.47,55 Maximum performic acid concentration (approximately 35%) is reached within thirty minutes.

Performic acid solutions are unstable, and active oxygen is lost at a fairly rapid rate (several per cent per hour at room temperature); the solutions, therefore, should not be stored but should be used immediately.

Epoxidation with Perbenzoic Acid

1,2-Epoxyethylbenzene (Styrene Oxide).^{12,113} To a solution of 42 g. (0.30 mole) of perbenzoic acid in 500 ml. of chloroform, prepared as described on p. 393, 30 g. (0.29 mole) of styrene is added. The solution is maintained at 0° for twenty-four hours, with frequent shaking during the first hour. At the end of twenty-four hours titration of an aliquot part of the solution shows that only the slight excess of perbenzoic acid remains. The benzoic acid is removed from the chloroform solution by shaking with several portions of 10% sodium hydroxide solution, the alkali is removed by washing with water, and the chloroform solution is dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. Fractional distillation yields 24–26 g. (69–75%) of 1,2-epoxyethylbenzene, b.p. 101°/40 mm., as an almost colorless liquid.

cis-9,10-Epoxystearic Acid.^{3,30} To 750 ml. of an acetone solution of 0.4 mole of perbenzoic acid, prepared as described on p. 394, 85 g. (0.3 mole) of oleic acid ^{114,115,116} is added at 0–5°. The solution is allowed to stand for forty hours at room temperature and then cooled to -25° and filtered; the precipitate is washed once with cold acetone. The crude 9,10-epoxystearic acid (purity 95–99%) is a white powder weighing about 85 g. Two recrystallizations from acetone at 0 to -25° yields 55-60 g. of analytically pure cis-9,10-epoxystearic acid, m.p. $59.5-59.8^{\circ}$. Oxirane oxygen: ¹¹⁷ calcd., 5.36%; found, 5.33-5.37%. The yield is 62-67%.

1,2-Epoxy-2-methyl-3-butene (Isoprene Monoxide) (preferential oxidation of one ethylenic linkage in a conjugated diene). 118 To a stirred solution of 16 g. (0.235 mole) of isoprene in 50 ml. of ethyl chloride cooled in an ice bath a cold solution of 30 g. (0.217 mole) of perbenzoic acid in 150 ml. of ethyl chloride is added from a dropping funnel. The contents of the flask and dropping funnel are protected from moisture by drying tubes. After the perbenzoic acid solution has been added, the reaction flask is allowed to stand in a refrigerator until the oxidizing agent is completely consumed (approximately twenty-four hours). The solution is then shaken cautiously with double the calculated quantity of sodium bicarbonate solution (30 g. per 100 ml. of water) in a cooled separatory funnel until evolution of carbon dioxide ceases. The aqueous layer is discarded, and the ethyl chloride solution is dried overnight in a refrigerator with anhydrous sodium sulfate. The solution is filtered, and the filtrate is distilled through a Widmer column until unreacted isoprene begins to distill. The residual material is then fractionated twice and yields 7 g. (30-40%) of 1,2-epoxy-2-methyl-3butene (isoprene monoxide).

Epoxidation with Monoperphthalic Acid

β- and α-Cholesteryl Oxide Acetates. A solution of 10 g. (0.023 mole) of cholesteryl acetate, m.p. 112–114°, in 50 ml. of ether is mixed with 266 ml. of an ether solution containing 8.4 g. (0.046 mole) of monoperphthalic acid. The solution is refluxed for six hours, and the solvent is removed by distillation. The residue is dried under reduced pressure and digested with 250 ml. of chloroform which has been dried over anhydrous potassium carbonate. The mixture is filtered, yielding 6.7 g. of phthalic acid (87% recovery) and a colorless solution, from which the solvent is removed under reduced pressure. The residue is crystallized from 30 ml. of methanol, giving 6.0 g. (58% yield) of β-cholesteryl oxide acetate, which on recrystallization gives the pure product, m.p. 111–112°, $[\alpha]_D^{25} - 21.8$ °. Concentration of the filtrate gives 1.55 g. (15% yield) of α-cholesteryl oxide acetate. The α-isomer, purified by crystallization from ethanol, has a m.p. of 101–103°, $[\alpha]_D^{25} - 44.6$ °.

Hydroxylation with Hydrogen Peroxide-Acetic Acid

9,10-Dihydroxystearic Acid (High-Melting Isomer). A well-stirred solution consisting of 270 g. (0.898 mole) of elaidic acid (containing 94% of elaidic acid and 6% of saturated acids), 810 ml. of glacial acetic

¹¹³ Hibbert and Burt, Org. Syntheses, 8, 102 (1928); Coll. Vol. I, 494 (1941).

¹¹⁴ Brown and Shinowara, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 59, 6 (1937).

¹¹⁵ Swern, Knight, and Findley, Oil and Soap, 21, 1 (1944).

¹¹⁶ Wheeler and Riemenschneider, Oil and Soap, 16, 207 (1939).

¹¹⁷ Swern, Findley, Billen, and Scanlan, Anal. Chem., 19, 414 (1947).

¹¹⁸ Pummerer and Reindel, Ber., 66, 335 (1933).

acid, and 20 g. of concentrated sulfuric acid is heated to 40°, and 123 g. of 25.5% hydrogen peroxide (0.925 mole) is added dropwise over a period of fifteen minutes. The reaction is only slightly exothermic. A granular precipitate begins to form after about thirty minutes and increases in bulk as the oxidation proceeds. The total reaction time at 40° is five hours. The reaction mixture is then poured into several volumes of hot water (95-100°) and stirred well for several minutes. The mixture is cooled to room temperature and filtered, and the precipitate is washed well with cold water. The product, which weighs about 300 g. and consists of a mixture of 9,10-dihydroxystearic acid and hydroxyacetoxystearic acids, is heated at 100° for one hour with an excess of 2 N sodium hydroxide and then poured into excess hydrochloric acid, with stirring. The granular precipitate is filtered and washed free of acid. It weighs about 280 g. (93%) and consists of somewhat impure 9,10-dihydroxystearic acid, m.p. 125-128°. Crystallization from 95% ethanol (7 ml./g.) at 0-5° yields 220 g. (78%) of pure 9,10-dihydroxystearic acid as glistening plates, m.p. 130-131°.

Hydroxylation with Hydrogen Peroxide-Formic Acid

9,10-Dihydroxystearic Acid (Low-Melting Isomer).4 To a wellstirred solution of 141 g. (0.5 mole) of oleic acid 114,115,116 in 423 ml. of 98-100% formic acid in a 1-l. three-necked flask at 25° is added during a fifteen-minute period 59 g. of 30% (100 volume) hydrogen peroxide solution (17.5 g.; 0.513 mole; 2.5% excess of hydrogen peroxide). The reaction becomes vigorously exothermic after five to ten minutes and the mixture becomes homogeneous in twenty to thirty minutes after all the hydrogen peroxide has been added. The temperature is kept at 40° with a cold-water bath at the start and a warm-water bath toward the end of the reaction. After about two hours no further consumption of peroxide is observed, and the formic acid is removed by distillation under reduced pressure (b.p. 50°/125 mm.) in a stream of carbon dioxide or nitrogen to prevent bumping. The residue in the flask, which consists of hydroxyformoxystearic acids, is heated for one hour at 100° with an excess of 3 N aqueous sodium hydroxide, and the hot, pale yellow solution is slowly poured into an excess of 3 N hydrochloric acid with stirring. The oil, which separates, is allowed to solidify, and the aqueous layer is discarded. The white solid is remelted with hot water on a steam bath and stirred well to remove residual salts and water-soluble acids. When the oil has resolidified, the aqueous layer is discarded, and the solid is broken into small pieces and air dried. This product consists of fairly pure 9,10-dihydroxystearic acid (iodine

number about 2-4, neutralization equivalent 315-320), weighs about 150-155 g. (97-99%), and melts at about 92°. The small quantity of unsaturated material present can be separated readily by grinding the material and washing it by decantation with several portions of petroleum naphtha (hexane fraction, boiling range 63-70°). 9,10-Dihydroxy-stearic acid, m.p. 93° and iodine number 0.0, is obtained from the crude product with a loss of about 6%. In order to obtain an analytically pure product, the dihydroxystearic acid is recrystallized from 95% ethanol, yielding 9,10-dihydroxystearic acid, m.p. 95°, in 80% overall yield.

If purified oleic acid is not available, red oil (commercial product containing about 60–75% oleic acid) may be employed. The crude 9,10-dihydroxystearic acid obtained from this material melts at about 70–75° (compared to 92° when pure oleic acid is used), and several recrystallizations from 95% ethanol are required to obtain a pure product. The yield of 9,10-dihydroxystearic acid from red oil is about 50–60% of the available oleic acid. Furthermore, the 90% grade of formic acid is satisfactory, but the reaction mixture remains heterogeneous throughout. In preparations one-tenth the size described, the 25–30% hydrogen peroxide can be added in one portion. In larger preparations the addition may require thirty minutes to one hour. In preparations five to ten times the size described, it is more convenient to pour the reaction mixture into a large volume of water and then hydrolyze the washed oily layer of hydroxyformates as described.

When 90% hydrogen peroxide is employed instead of the 30% grade, the crude dihydroxystearic acid has an iodine number of 1, instead of 2–4. With the concentrated peroxide, the quantity of formic acid can be reduced to about one-seventh the amount employed with 25–30% hydrogen peroxide.

1,2-Tetradecanediol.² To a well-stirred mixture of 49.2 g. (0.25 mole) of 1-tetradecene, b.p. 158–159°/60 mm., n_D^{20} 1.4357 (prepared by efficient fractional distillation of the 95% commercial grade), and 295 ml. of 98–100% formic acid at 25°, 35 g. of 25.6% hydrogen peroxide (0.263 mole; 5% excess) is added in one portion. The mixture is heated and stirred for about twenty-four hours at 40°, or until an analysis ⁹¹ indicates that the theoretical quantity of peroxide has disappeared. The reaction mixture is heterogeneous throughout. The formic acid is recovered under reduced pressure, and the distillation residue is refluxed for one hour with excess 3 N ethanolic potassium hydroxide. Most of the ethanol is then evaporated on the steam bath, and a large quantity of hot water is added, precipitating the glycol as an oil. When the glycol has solidified, the water layer is siphoned off, and the product is remelted

with hot water and allowed to resolidify. The combined water washes are extracted with ether to remove a small quantity of dissolved glycol, and the residue obtained after evaporation of the ether is combined with the main portion of glycol. The crude glycol is broken up into small pieces and air dried, yielding about 55 g. (95%) of fairly pure 1,2-tetradecanediol, m.p. about 65°; iodine number about 4. This is recrystallized from methanol (8 ml./g.) at 0°, yielding about 40 g. (69%) of pure product, m.p. 68–68.5°.

trans-1,2-Cyclohexanediol. To a mixture of 105 g. of 98–100% formic acid and 13 g. (0.115 mole) of 30% hydrogen peroxide, 8.0 g. (0.097 mole) of cyclohexene is added. The immiscible layers are shaken together briefly; spontaneous heating occurs, and the suspension becomes homogeneous at 65–70°, where it is held for two hours on the steam bath. Most of the formic acid is removed by distillation, and the residue is heated on the steam bath for forty-five minutes with 50 ml. of 20% sodium hydroxide. After cooling, the yellow solution is neutralized with hydrochloric acid and evaporated to dryness under vacuum. The resulting solid is distilled, yielding 10.25 g. of a fraction, b.p. 128–132°/15 mm., which solidifies immediately. Recrystallization from acetone gives 7.9 g. (70%) of trans-1,2-cyclohexanediol, m.p. 102–103°. A larger scale oxidation of cyclohexene is described in Organic Syntheses. 119

Hydroxylation with Performic Acid

2,3-Dihydroxynonanoic Acid.⁵⁵ Twenty grams (0.13 mole) of 2nonenoic acid is added slowly to a well-stirred solution of performic acid prepared by the reaction of 69 g. of 98-100% formic acid, 19 g. (0.5 mole) of 90% hydrogen peroxide, and 0.50 g. of concentrated sulfuric acid. The emulsified mixture is heated to 55-60° to start the reaction and is then held at this temperature for two hours while stirring is continued. The temperature is then allowed to rise to 95° until the spontaneous reaction is over (twenty-five minutes) and the excess peracid largely destroyed. Most of the formic acid is removed by vacuum distillation, and the residue is saponified on the steam bath for onehalf hour with 175 ml. of 10% sodium hydroxide. After acidification with hydrochloric acid, the oily product is extracted with ether and the extract is dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. Evaporation of the ether yields a waxy solid which is suspended in benzene and filtered, yielding 2,3-dihydroxynonanoic acid as white slippery flakes. Concentration of the filtrate followed by addition of ligroin gives two additional crops,

the total yield of product being 12.4 g. (51%). On crystallization from ethyl acetate or water, pure 2,3-dihydroxynonanoic acid, m.p. 118–118.5°, is obtained.

TABLE OF ETHYLENIC COMPOUNDS OXIDIZED WITH ORGANIC PERACIDS

The following table lists the ethylenic compounds which have been epoxidized or hydroxylated with organic peracids. The table is divided into the following sections: A, Hydrocarbons and substituted hydrocarbons; B, Steroids (alphabetical order); C, Acids; D, Alcohols; E, Esters; F, Aldehydes and ketones (including carbohydrates); G, Ethers; H, Miscellaneous.

In the preparation of the table the literature has been consulted to October 1951. The addendum to Table I lists the compounds whose epoxidation or hydroxylation with organic peracids was reported from October 1, 1951, to October 1, 1952.

¹¹⁹ Roebuck and Adkins. Org. Syntheses, 28, 35 (1948).

Hydrocarbons and Substituted Hydrocarbons (120) 18, 121) 18, 121) (125, 126) (125, 126) (125, 126) (125, 126) (125, 126) (131) (131) (120) (121) (121) (122) (123) (123) (124) (125) (127) (127) (128) (129) (131) (131)	20
70 (124) 54 (71) — (129) — (129)	
- (129) - (129)	
- (129) - (129)	
1 1	
1	
— (23) —	
	<u></u>

	30 (142)						
22/ 24/ 25	122, 141)	58 (141, 144)	65 (141) 70 (144)		59 (141)		
63-100 (39-70				— (147)	(41)		- (129) - (129)
60-67 (32, 137)				— (149)			
					,		
(135) 100 (70, 136)	- (121) 66 (121, 143)	75 (10, 70, 144) - (132) - (132)	85 (145, 146) (7)	93 (148) — (130) — (126) 75-80 (125, 126,	134) (150, 151) 100 (152) (121) 50-75 (10, 70, 136,	1	31 (157) — (158) — (158) — (159)
Biallyl Cyclohexene	2,3-Dimethylbutadiene 1,5-Hexadiene	1-Methyl-1-cyclopentene 3-Methyl-1-cyclopentene 4-Methyl-1-cyclopentene 5-Mothyl-1-cyclopentene	5-Methylcyclopentene isomers) 4-Methoxy-5-bromo-1-pentene 2,3-Dimethyl-2-butene	2-Methyl-4-methoxy-1-butene 3-Cyano-1-cyclohexene 2-Methyl-2,5-hexadien-4-one 2-Chloro-1-methyl-1-cyclohexene 2-Chloro-4-methyl-1-cyclohexene	2-Chloro-1-methylenecyclohexane Cycloheptene 2,3-Dimethyl-1-cyclopentene 3-Ethyl-1-cyclopentene 1,6-Heptadiene 1-Methyl-1-cyclohexene	4-Methyl-1-cyclohexene 6-Methyl-1-cyclohexene 3-Methyl-1-methylenecyclopentane Methylenecyclohexane 1-Ethoxy-1-cyclopentene 1-Chloro-1-boxtoxa	1-Heptene 5-Methyl-1-hexene 3-Heptene
C_6H_{10}			$C_6H_{11}BrO \\ C_6H_{12}$	C ₆ H ₁₂ O C ₇ H ₉ N C ₇ H ₁₀ O C ₇ H ₁₁ C ₁	C_7H_{12}	C7H120	C,HtH

TABLE I-Continued

ence)	Perbenzoic Acid
Yield of α-Glycol, % (Reference)	Performic Acid
Yield of	Peracetic Acid
rence)	Peracetic Acid
Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference)	Monoper- phthalic Acid
Yield of	Perbenzoic Acid
Ethylenic Compound	Name
	Formula

	o				<i>.</i> 1011							
(erence)	Perbenzoic											
Yield of α-Glycol, % (Reference)	Performic Acid		40 (122)									_
Yield o	Peracetic Acid					(169)					— (41, 43, 168)	(621) —
erence)	Peracetic Acid	urbons—Continued	55 (161)	,		69-80 (165a)						_
Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference)	Monoper- phthalic Acid	Substituted Hydroco										
Yield of	Perbenzoic Acid	Hydrocarbons and Substituted Hydrocarbons-	40–60 (160, 160a) 69–75 (12, 22, 113,	162, 163, 164) — (160)	— (160) — (121)	65 (160) 75 (166)	— (132) — (132) — (7)	- (121) - (132) (133)	$-\frac{(132)}{(121)}$	70 (125)		
Ethylenic Compound	Name	А.	Cycloöctatetraene Styrene	7,8-Dichlorobicyclo-[4,2,0]-dibromo-	7,8-Dichlorobicyclo-[4.2.0]-2,4-octadiene 1-Vinylcyclohexene	Cycloöctene 1,2-Dimethyl-1-cyclohexene	1,3-Dimethyl-1-cyclohexene 2,4-Dimethyl-1-cyclohexene Dimethylcyclohexene	2,5-Dimethyl-1,5-hexadiene 3-Methyl-1-methylenecyclohexane	1-Isopropyl-1-cyclopentene	1-Ethoxy-1-cyclohexene		7-Mennyl-1-neptene
	Formula		CgHg	CsH ₈ Br ₂ Cl ₂	C ₈ H ₈ Cl ₂ C ₈ H ₁₂	C8H14				C ₈ H ₁₄ O	C ₈ H ₁₅ Cl C ₈ H ₁₆	

																				- (183)	-			-				M.
58-70 (2, 169)	40 (40)																											
(36, 40, 147)	(36, 40, 147)	100 (138)			100 (138)										(168)			100 (130)	(601) 001									
35 (2) 28 (21) — (36, 40)	(36, 40)																											
							(178)	(011)																				
		100 (70, 132, 163, 171)	(172)		73, 1	(162, 175, 176) 80 (162, 177)		(132)	-(132, 179, 180)		(132)	(-(132)	100 (181)	(101)	70 (127, 171)	(182)	— (163)	— (163, 182)	- (121)	75 (179)	_		-	- (175)	60-80 (173, 174)	- (136)	- (175)	60-80 (173, 174)
Octenes 2,4,4-Trimethyl-1-pentene	1,1-Diethoxy-2-butene	ingene	3-(p-Bromophenyl)-1-propene	3-Chloro-1-phenyl-1-propene	1-Phenyl-1-propens	2-Phenylpropene	Hexabydroindene	4-Methyl-2-ethylcyclohexene	3-Methyl-1-ethylidenecyclohexane	1,8-Nonadiene	1-n-Propyl-1-cyclohexene	1-Isopropyl-1-eyclohexene	1-Nonene	Isononene	Dicyclopentadiene	1,2-Dihydronaphthalene	2,3-Dihydronaphthalene	I,4-Dihydronaphthalene	Many Department of the control of th	1-(p-Bromophenyl)-1-butene	4-(p-Bromophenyl)-1-butene	2-Chloro-1,2,3,4-tetrahydronaphthalene	1-Phenyl-2-methyl-1-propene	1-Phenyl-1-butene		1.2.3,4-Tetrahydronaphthalene	1-Anisyl-1-propene	5-Phenyi-1-pentene
	C ₈ H ₁₆ O ₂	STEP (CoHyBr	C ₉ H ₉ Cl	017.6	:	C9H14	$\mathrm{C_9H_{16}}$;	C9H18		$C_{10}H_{10}$					$C_{10}H_{11}Br$		$C_{10}H_{11}C_{1}$	$C_{10}H_{12}$;	C10H130	C10F114

EPOXIDATION OF ETHYLENIC COMPOUNDS

407

ETHYLENIC COMPOUNDS OXIDIZED WITH ORGANIC PERACIDS

		OR	GANI	C	RE!	√C.I][ONS													
(Reference)	Perbenzoic Acid								- (142)	,											
Yield of α-Glycol, % (Ref	Performic Acid																	45-75 (2)			
Yield of	Peracetic Acid		(180)	— (31)	— (193)		(195)								- (140)	,					_
rence)	Peracetic Acid	rbons—Continued	- (188)	69 (31, 188)	63 (32)	25 (194)		89 (31, 198)							59-80 (201)			56 (2)		50 (34)	
Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference)	Monoper- phthalic Acid	ibstituted Hydroca																			
Yield of	Perbenzoic Acid	. Hydrocarbons and Substituted Hydrocarbons-	(187)	70 (31)	— (190) 40–60 (6, 32, 101,	191, 192)		- (6, 187, 191, 196, 197)		(199)	40 (200)	- (132)	- (121)	(121)	83-91 (201)	— (132)	— (6 , 191)	100 (181)	9 –		(175)
Ethylenic Compound	Name	Α,	Camphene (+)-Δ¹-Carene	$(+)$ - Δ^3 -Carene	2,4-Dimethyl-4-vinyl-1-cyclohexene Limonene	Myrcene	Norbornylene	Pinene	Sabinene	α-Terpinene	γ-Terpinene	1-Butyl-1-cyclohexene	1,9-Decadiene	2,6-Dimethyl-2,6-octadiene	3-Menthene	4-Methyl-2-n-propyl-1-cyclohexene	Caprylene	1-Decene	Decene	1-Phenyl-3-penten-1-yne	1 Aminos 1 boot one
	Formula		$C_{10}H_{16}$		1000							C ₁₀ H ₁₈					C10H20			C11H10	Ç. 1

		40-75 (2. 212)	
		- (213)	40 (58)
	02 (34)	52 (2)	
(10, 70, 202) 90 (203a) 60-80 (203, 204) (205) (175) 70-90 (184) (175) (175) (185, 186, 206) 70-80 (207) (132) (132) 100 (181)	— (164) 100 (10, 70, 208, 209) — (202) — (203a) 70–90 (184) 70–90 (184) 60–80 (173, 174) — (210)	— (175) — (210) — (190) 100 (181, 211)	- (208) - (132)
1-Phenyl-1-cyclopentene 3-Phenyl-1-cyclopentene 1-(3,4-Methylenedioxyphenyl)-2- methyl-1-propene 1-(p-Tolyl)-2-methyl-1-propene 2-Methyl-3-phenyl-2-butene 1-Phenyl-1-pentene 1-Phenyl-2-methyl-1-butene 1-Phenyl-2-methyl-1-butene 1-Anisyl-2-uethyl-1-butene 1-Anisyl-2-uethyl-1-butene 2-Methoxyphenyl)-2-methyl-1- propene 1-(m-Methoxyphenyl)-2-methyl-1- propene 2-Methylenedecahydronaphthalene 1-Hendecene 1-Phenyl-3-hexen-1-yne	3,4-Diacetoxystyrene 1-Phenyl-1-cyclohexene 1-Anisyl-1-cyclopentene 3-Anisyl-1-cyclopentene 1-Phenyl-2-ethyl-1-butene 6-Phenyl-1-hexene 1-Anisyl-2-methyl-1-butenc	3-Anisyl-1-pentene 3-Anisyl-2-pentene 1,2,5-Trimethyl-5-isopropenyl-1-cyclo- hexene 1-Dodecene Isododecene 3-Ethoxy-4-propyl-3-heptone	1-Phenyl-3-methyl-3-hexen-1-yne 1-Phenyl-4-methyl-1-cyclohexene 1-Benzyl-1-cyclohexene
CuHu2 CuHu3O2 CuHu4 CuHu8 CuHu8 CuHu22 CuHu22	C12H12O4 C12H14 C12H14O C12H16	C12H20 C12H24 C12H24O	

1,1,3-Triphenyl-1-propene
1-Anisyl-2,2-diphenylethylene
1-(2-Biphenylyl)-1-phenyl-1-methyl-1-propene
1,3-Diphenyl-2-benzyl-1-propene
1-Anisyl-2-benzyl-3-phenyl-1-propene

C21H13 C21H130 C22H29

 $C_{23}H_{22}O$

ETHYLENIC

ference)	Perbenzoie Acid
Yield of α-Glycol, % (Reference)	Peracetic Acid Performic Acid
Yield of	Peracetic Acid
rence)	Peracetic Acid
Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference)	Monoper- phthalic Acid
Yield of	Perbenzoic Acid
Ethylenic Compound	Name
	Formula

,	ORG	JANIC REACTIONS			EFUAIDAI	TON OF EILLIN	ENIC COMPOUND
		13 (218)		- (142)			
		70-80 (220)				58-85 (2, 169)	50-75 (2, 169)
		- (216) - (216) - (218)				Low (59) (238, 239)	
	rbons—Continued	- (137) 83-100 (137, 201) 42 (2, 222)		30 (33)	25 (234)	50 (2)	<40 (2, 222)
	Substituted Hydrocarbons	. (219)	•				
	Iydrocarbons and	- (206) 100 (181) 50 (215) - (217) 60-100 (22, 185, 216, 217) - (210) 76 (221) - (203, 204) - (203, 204) - (176, 203, 227) - (175) - (176, 203, 227) - (185, 228) - (229) - (229)		(206) (190) 70-100 (230, 231) 100 (232)	(233) (121) (235) (235) (100,	70–90 (184) 80 (229) — (229) 70–90 (184) — (100) — (100) — (225)	— (225) 85 (100) 95 (100) 70-90 (184) 70-90 (184) — (240) 66-70 (100, 227, 241)
	A. I.	1-Anisyl-2-ethyl-1-butene 1-Tridecene trans-4,4'-Dichlorostilbene Allostilbene Isostilbene Stilbene 1,1-Diphenylethylene 1,2,3-Dimethoxyphenyl)-1-cyclohexene 4-Anisyl-3-heptene 1,1-Dicyclohexylethylene 1,1-Dicyclohexylethylene 1,1-Dicyclohexylethylene 1,1-Diphenyl-2-(3,4-methylenee) 1,1-Diphenyl-1-propene 1,2-Diphenyl-1-propene 1,3-Diphenyl-1-propene 1,3-Diphenyl-1-propene 1,3-Diphenyl-2-(p-tolyl)ethylene 1-Phenyl-2-(p-tolyl)ethylene 1-Phenyl-2-anisylethylene 1-Phenyl-1-(m-methoxyphenyl)ethylene 1-Phenyl-1-(m-methoxyphenyl)ethylene		1-Phenyl-3-nonen-1-yne 1-Anisyl-2-propyl-1-pentene Hydrocarbon (Two C==C) Caryophyllene Copaene	+)-Sesquiterpene hibydrocaryophyllene 4-Diphenylbutadiene 1-Diphenyl-2-methyl-1-propene 3-Diphenyl-2-butene 1-Diphenyl-1-butene 1-Di-p-tolylethylene	nylene ylene	1,1-Dianisyl-1-propene 1,1-Dianisyl-1-butene 1,1-Diphenyl-1-hexene 1,1-Diphenyl-3-methyl-1-pentene 1-Phenyl-2-benzyl-1-pentene 1-Phenyl-2-benzyl-3-methyl-1-butene 1-Octadecene 9-Octadecene Triphenylethylene
		C13H18O C13H26 C14H18 C14H18O2 C14H24 C14H24 C14H24 C14H24 C14H24 C14H24 C14H24		C15H18 C15H220 C15H24	С ₁₅ П ₂₆ С ₁₆ Н ₁₄ С ₁₆ П ₁₆	C ₁₆ H ₁₆ O ₂ C ₁₆ H ₃₂ C ₁₆ H ₃₂ C ₁₇ H ₁₈	C17 H18O2 C18 H20 C18 H36 C20 H16

-Continued

TABLE I-

ı	I	1	1	J 161	mv.	* * ()	. 11.7								
(erence)	Perbenzoic Acid											— (304)			20 (304)
Ethylenic Compound Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference) Yield of α-Glycol, % (Reference)	Performic Acid														
Yield of	Peracetic Acid		— (293)	— (293)			25-30 (298)								
rence)	Peracetic Acid	Jontinued						30 (300)							- (288)
Oxirane, % (Refe	Monoper- phthalic Acid	Steroids (alphabelical order)—Continued	25-60 (294, 295)	80 (294)			40 (299)	70 (259, 301)							
Yield of	Perbenzoic Acid	B. Steroids (alp	— (293) 50 (294)		- (288)	Fair (296)	40 (297)	20 (300) 25 (301)	80 (308)	(200)	70 (303)		(30s) (30g)		
Ethylenic Compound	Name		3-trans-Dehydroandrosterone	trans-Dehydroandrosterone benzoate 3-trans-Dehydroandrosterone tetraacetylohooside	Dehydroergosteryl acetate-maleic	Dehydroisoandrosterone	3,6-Diacetoxy-5-methyl-10-norandrost-	3,6-Diacetoxy-5-methylnorcholestane 3\(\beta\).1-Diacetoxy-20-oxo-5-allo-14.16-	pregnadiene Dibromodehydroergosteryl acetate.	maleic anhydride adduct	3,7-Dihydroxycholenic acid		3,9-Epoxy-11-cholenic acid	α-Ergostenyl acetate	Ergosterol Ergosterol-maleic anhydride adduct
	Formula						- 00	0,00		`			- en	9 ,	- 7

adduct						
9-Etiocholenol-3α-onc-17	(30 8)					
11-Etiocholen-3α-ol-17-one acetate						
3α-Hydroxy-9,11-cholenic acid	25 (306)					
3α-Hydroxy-11-cholenic acid	80 (310)				•	
anol acetate			- 1-490-000000			
$\Delta^{9(11)}$ -22-Isoallospirosten-3 β -ol-3-	56 (311)		. 11 20 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10			
acetate			oper to			
Isodihydroxycholenie acid	-(312)			-		
	70 (313)					
6-Methoxy-16-i-pregnen-20-one	- (314)					
Methyl 3\(\beta\)-acetoxy-14,16-alloetiochola-	— (316)					
dienate						
Methyl 3\beta-acctoxyallo-14-etiocholenate		80 (269)				
Methyl 3\beta-acetoxy-5,14,16-chola-		-(317)				
		-				
-acetoxy-9,11-cholenate	60-70 (264, 288,					
	318)					
	40 (319)					
Methyl 38-acetoxy-14,16-etioallochola-	-(259, 307)					
dienate						
Methyl 3\beta-acetoxy-14,16-etiochola-		100 (320)				
dienate						
Methyl 3α-acetoxy-9(11)-etiocholanate	-(321)					
Methyl 38-acetoxy-38-etioallocholenate	— (259)					
Methyl 3α-acetoxy-12α-hydroxy-7-	30 (322)					
cholenate			-			
Methyl 3\beta-acetoxy-14,17-isoalloctio-		80 (269)				
cholenate						
Methyl 9-cholenate	— (323)					
Methyl 11-cholenate	(318, 324)					
Methyl 7,14-3\alpha,12\beta-diacetoxychola-	— (274)					
dienate				o 100 an		

THYLENIC COMPOUNDS OXIDIZED WITH ORGANIC PERACID

	Ethylenic Compound	Yield of	Yield of Oxirane, % (Refe	(Reference)	Yield of	α-Glycol, % (Ref	(Reference)
Formula	Name	Perbenzoic Acid	Monoper- phthalic Acid	Peracetic Acid	Peracetic Acid	Performic Acid	Perbenzoic Acid
		B. Steroids (al	Steroids (alphabetical order)—Continued	Continued			
	Methyl 3a,12a-diacetoxy-14-cholenate Methyl 3a,12β-diacetoxy-14-cholenate Methyl diacetylapocholate Methyl 3a,12β-diacetylapocholate Methyl 3,7-dihydroxycholenate Methyl 3a-hydroxy-11-cholenate Methyl 3a-hydroxy-11-cholenate Methyl 3a-hydroxy-12-methoxy-9.11- cholenate Methyl 3-keto-4,11-cholenate Methyl 3-keto-11-cholenate Methyl 3-keto-11-cholenate Methyl 12-methoxy-9,11-cholenate 5-Methylnorcholestane-3,6-dione 3-Methyl-A-nor-3(5)-cholestene 5,16-Pregnadien-3-one 14,17-Pregnadien-3-one 5-Pregnadien-3-one	- (259) 50 (274) - (312) - (274) - (271) 45 (319) 55 (319) 95 (325) - (326) - (325) - (325) 56 (314, 329)	>40 (327) - (328)	55 (300)			— (272)
	acetate Pregnenonol acetate 17-Vinyl-3.17-isoandrostanediol		65 (263, 331)		25 (298)		

-	3	
*	ζ	
ζ	;	
	_	

63-4 (66) 62-3 (66) 75 (334) 46 (334) (55)		— (347)		(359)	— (329)
25-51 (55)	46 (55) 44–100 (4, 48, 169)		(349) 75-82 (349, 350) 73 (349, 350) 61-73 (349, 350) 80 (349, 350)	60-100 (4, 5, 48, 169, 350, 365)	80-100 (4, 5, 169, 349, 350)
- (333) - (103) - (103)	95 (333, 337, 338)	- (340) - (341) - (344) Low (345, 346) 55 (348) 7-37 (348)		60-95 (4, 5, 29, 48, 49, 51, 72, 139, 352, 356- 364)	75–100 (4, 5, 29, 49, 72, 352, 357, 359, 363, 366)
			- (351)	82 (1, 5, 20, 23, 355)	71 (1, 5, 72)
	— (335)				
20 (332)	25–50 (336)	— (339) — (342, 343)		60-80 (3, 5, 22, 171, 240, 342, 343, 353, 354)	Good (5, 171, 240, 366)
Crotonic Isocrotonie Allylacetic 2-Pentenoic Sorbic Allylmalonic 2-Hexenoic Cinnamic 2-Nonenoic	1,1,3-Trimethyl-3-cyclohexene-2-acetic 2-Hendecenoic 10-Hendenoic (undecylenic)	 ψ-Santonic 16-Bromo-9-hexadecene-1-carboxylic 9,11,13-Octadecatrienoic (eleostearic) 9,12,15-Octadecatrienoic (linolenic) 12,13-Dibromoöctadecenoic 9,12-Octadecadienoic (linoleic) cis-2-Octadecenoic 	trans-6-Octadecenoic (petroselaidic) cis-7-Octadecenoic trans-7-Octadecenoic cis-8-Octadecenoic trans-8-Octadecenoic	cis-9-Octadecenoic (oleic)	trans-9-Octadecenoic (elaidic)
C4H6O2 C5H8O2 C6H8O4 C6H10O2 C9H8O2 C9H8O2	$C_{11}H_{18}O_2 \\ C_{11}H_{20}O_2$	C ₁₅ H ₂₂ O ₅ C ₁₇ H ₃₁ BrO ₂ C ₁₈ H ₃₀ O ₂ C ₁₈ H ₃₂ Br ₂ O ₂ C ₁₈ H ₃₂ O ₂ C ₁₈ H ₃₂ O ₂			

	,		RGANIC RE	LACTIONS				
(Reference)	Perbenzoic Acid			— (171)	— (171)			Manual or construction of the second
Yield of a-Glycol. % (Ref			69 (350) 88 (350) 73–94 (350, 3664, 367) 80–94 (349, 350,	3674) 68 (350) 60 (350)		57 (373)	(375)	
r EKACIDS	Peracetic Acid			20 (368) (369)		74 (340) 40 (371, 372) (344) (338)	- (357) 58 (338, 357)	
GANIC	Peracetic Acid					— (370)		
3 8	Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference) Monoper- Acid Pera	Acids—Continued	— (366 <i>a</i>)				— (374)	
Yield o	Perbenzoic Acid	C. A					55 (357) 70 (171, 357)	
Ethylenie Compound	Name		cis-10-Octadecenoic trans-10-Octadecenoic cis-11-Octadecenoic trans-11-Octadecenoic	cis-12-Octadecenoie trans-12-Octadecenoie Vaccenic cis-12-Hydroxy-9-octadecenoic (ricinoleie)	trans-12-Hydroxy-9-octadecenoic (ricinelaidic)	n-11-Eicosenoic Anacardic 9,10-Diacetoxy-12-octadecenoic Hendecenoic dimers	Brassidie Erucie α-Elemolie Mixed unsaturated fatty acids from human hair fat	
	Formula		Cont'd)	C18H34O3	Coull of O.	C20H38O2 C22H32O3 C22H38O6 C22H40O4		

\sim	
σ.	
\sim	
\sim	
ب	
-	
_	
ΨÇ,	
-	
\neg	
_	

			D. Alcohols				
				And in the first of the contract of the contra			
H ₆ O	Allyl alcohol	(6, 8)				80 (376)	
OSH N	Crotyl alcohol	11 (377)				49 (57 60)	
11 ₆ O	Z-Fenten-4-yn-1-ol	1					(378)
H ₁₀ O	Anhydro-[4-(enol)-acetobutyijalcohol	47 (378, 379)					(010)
H10O2	2,3-Dihydroxy-I-propene (acetone com- pound)	(380) 	Table No. 4				
II.,O	4 5- Dihydroxy-2 6-octadiene	(377)					
H:60	2.4.4-Trimethyl-1-penten-3-ol	(40)					
H ₀ NO ₃	6-Nitrocinnanyl alcohol	80 (380a)					
Hoo	Cinnamy alcohol	_				17 (381)	
0£1H0	Methylstyrylearbinol	_					
OH118O	Geraniol	-(6, 9, 191, 383)					
	Linaloöl	(6, 9, 384)	80 (384)				
	1-Menthen-6-ol	(385)					
$_0H_{18}O_2$	1,4-Menthenediol	Good (200)					
0H18O3	Menthenetriol			(386)			
0H20O	Citronellol	- (383)					
2H20O2	Acetyllinaloöl	6) –					
3H ₂₆ O	11-Hydroxy-1-tridecene	— (387)					
$_{4}\mathrm{H}_{26}\mathrm{O}$	Methyldihydro-a-ionol		85 (388)				
4H28O	11-Hydroxy-1-tetradecene	- (387)					
8H32O	9,11,13-Octadecatrienol (elcostearyl				- (389)		
	alcohol)						
$^{8}\mathrm{H}_{36}\mathrm{O}$	cis-9-Octadecenol (oleyl alcohol)	74-85 (3, 20, 354, 390, 391)		80 (1, 23)	60 (51, 361, 362, 364, 389)	50-100 (4, 169)	
	trans-9-Octadecenol (elaidyl alcohol)			(391)			
8H36O2	cis-1,12-Dihydroxy-9-octadecene				(388) —		
}	(ricinoleyl alcohol)						
9H30O	Vitamin A		- (392, 393)				
3H30O	11-Hydroxy-11,11-diphenyl-1-hendecene	— (387)					
O05110	B-Amyrin	-(245, 246)					
	Skimmiene	— (39 4)					
0H ₅₂ O	Dihydroeuphol	— (395)					
H520	Acetylskimmiol	(396)	(307)				
0.000	Midrationii		(100)				

			O1
erence)	Perbenzoic		
Yield of α-Glycol, % (Reference)	Performic Acid		
Yield of	Peracetic Acid		
rence)	Peracetic Acid		
Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference)	Monoper- phthalic Acid	E. Esters	
Yield of	Perbenzoic Acid		
Ethylenic Compound	Name		
	Formula		

E. Esters	adienoate (sorbate) — (398, 399) ate — (400) — (400) — (125) — (401) thyl-1-cyclohexene — (125, 180) cetate — (121)	ogeranate classical control co	ecenoate (undecylenate) — (387) — (405) — (405)	nate)
	Vinyl acetate Methyl 2,4-hexadienoate (sorbate) Ethyl acetoacetate 1-Acetoxy-1-cyclohexene 1-Acetoxy-3-methyl-1-cyclohexene 2-Acetoxy-4-methyl-1-cyclohexene Methyl diallylacetate	anate propenyl)	acetate Ethyl 5-cyclopentyl-5-hydroxy-2- pentenoate Methyl 10-hendecenoate (undecylenate) Diethyl diellylmalonate	(undec eeenoa (unde
	C4H6O2 C6H10O2 C6H10O3 C8H12O2 C9H14O2	C ₁₀ H ₁₆ O ₄ C ₁₀ H ₁₈ O ₂ C ₁₁ H ₁₂ O ₂ C ₁₁ H ₁₈ O ₂ C ₁₁ H ₁₈ O ₂ C ₁₁ H ₁₈ O ₄ C ₁₂ H ₂₀ O ₂	C ₁₂ H ₂₀ O ₃ C ₁₂ H ₂₂ O ₂ C ₁₃ H ₂₀ O ₄	C13H24O2 C13H24O3 C14H24O4 C14H26O2

96 (37,* 56)	50 (56, 409α) 100 (4, 169)			— (37)	
- (49) <20 (345) 50 (49, 72, 407) - (49, 407) - (409)		— (341)	- (29, 51, 361, 362) - (29)	Good (357) — (357)	
- (28, 29, 30) 45 (1, 23, 355) - (72)	— (1, 23)		40 (410) (355)	— (413)	— (418 <i>a</i>)
				— (412) — (374)	(418)
25-40 (28, 29, 345, 406) 20 (29, 310) 42-67 (3, 20) — (171) 80 (408)	(408) 80 (29) 85-95 (28, 29)	— (343)	— (171, 240, 342, 343) — (240)	- (411) - (411) - (357) 75 (357) - (247) - (414)	- (395) (415) (416, 417) (247)
Methyl palmitoleate Methyl 9,12-octadecadicnoate (linoleate) Methyl 9,11-octadecadienoate Methyl cis-9-octadecenoate (oleate) Methyl trans-9-octadecenoate (elaidate) Methyl cis-6-octadecenoate (petro-	selinate) Methyl trans-6-octadecenoate (petroselaidate) Methyl hydroxyoleates Methyl cis-12-hydroxy-9-octadecenoate (ricinoleate) Methyl trans-12-hydroxy-9-octa-	decenoate (ricinelaidate) Ethyl 9,11,13-octadecatrienoate (eleostearate) Ethyl 9,12,15-octadecatrienoate	(unolenate) Ethyl cis-9-octadecenoate (oleate) Ethyl trans-9-octadecenoate Oleyl acetate	Methyl (+)-pimarate Methyl (+)-dihydropimarate Methyl brassidate Methyl erucate Octyl oleate Methyl α-elemolate β-Amyrin acetate Euphadienyl acetate Euphorbadienyl acetate	Euphol acetate Germanicol acetate Lanosteryl acetate Taraxerol acetate Artenyl acetate Euphenyl acetate
C ₁₇ H ₃₂ O ₂ C ₁₉ H ₃₄ O ₂ C ₁₉ H ₃₆ O ₂	C19H36O3	C20H34O2	C20H38O2	C21H32O2 C21H34O2 C23H44O2 C26H50O2 C31H50O3 C32H52O2	C32H5402

-Continued

TABLE I-

ference)	Perbenzoic
Yield of α-Glycol, % (Reference)	Peracetic Acid Performic Acid
Yield of	Peracetic Acid
rence)	Peracetic Acid
Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference)	Monoper- phthalic Acid
	Perbenzoic Acid
Ethylenic Compound	Name
	Formula

		O1	RGANI	C REA	ACT	YON	\mathbf{S}					
erence)	Perbenzoic											
Yield of α-Glycol, % (Reference)	Performic Acid				É	(s) 						
Yield of	Peracetic Acid									36 (52, 361, 362,	509, 428) (50) (428)	
rence)	Peracetic Acid			— (355)		(355)		86 (1, 427)	— (355)	73 (1, 427)		70-80 (1, 427, 429).
Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference)	Monoper- phthalic Acid	Esters—Continued			— (422)	— (423)	(424) 6 (425)	— (425) — (426)				
Yield of	Perbenzoic Acid	E. E	— (247) 70 (420) — (247)	— (421) — (418a)								
Ethylenic Compound	Name		Euphorbenyl acetate Isodihydrocuphol acetate Tirucallenyl acetate	Methyl acetyleburicoate Oleyl oleate Artenyl benzoate	Escingenin tetraacetate Propylene glycol dioleate	Isoescingenin pentaacetate Diethyleneglycol dioleate	Cryptoxanthin diacetate Xanthophyll diacetate	Zeaxanthin diacetate Capsanthin diacetate Triolein	Butyl Carbitol esters of unsaturated fatty acids	Castor oil	Cocoa butter Coconut oil	Corn oil
	Formula		C32H54O2 (Cont'd)	C33H52O4 C36H68O2 C37H56O2	C38H56O9 C39H79O4	C40H53O10 C40H74O5	C44H60O3 C44H60O4	C44H62O5 C57H104O6				

Menhaden oil 57 (1, 427) Methyl esters of soybean oil acids — (355) Methyl esters of unsaturated acids 77 (1, 427) Neatsfoot oil 81 (1, 427) Penut oil 75 (1, 427) Perilla oil 75 (1, 427) Rice oil 71 (1, 427) Sardine oil 64 (1, 427) Sardine oil — (419) Soybean oil — (419) Tall oil — (431-436) Tallow — (358, 437) Tobaccoseed oil — (50)	Cottonseed oil Lard oil Linseed oil	71 (1, 427) 74 (1, 427) 66 (1, 427)			
esters of soybean oil acids esters of unsaturated acids oot oil il oot oil oil ed (1, 427) oil ed oil		57 (1, 427)			
esters of unsaturated acids oot oil so to il so		(355)			
oot oil ii iii iii iii iii iii iii	Methyl esters of unsaturated acids	— (355)			
81 (1, 427) — (428) oil 75 (1, 427) oil 64 (1, 427) ed oil — (419) oil 67-75 (1, 427) n oil 67-75 (1, 427) a oil — (358, 437) oseed oil — (50)	Neatsfoot oil	77 (1, 427)			
oil 64 (1, 427) oil 64 (1, 427) oil 71 (1, 427) - (419) oil 67-75 (1, 427, - (431-436) - (358, 437) oseed oil 73 (1, 427) - (50)	Olive oil	81 (1, 427)	(428)		
oil 71 (1, 427)	Peanut oil	75 (1, 427)			
ed oil	Perilla oil	64 (1, 427)			
oil a oil b coll a oil b coll a oil c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c	Rapeseed oil	71 (1, 427)			
oil a oil a oil b coll a oil b coll a oil c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c	Rice oil				
n oil 67–75 (1, 427, — (431-436) — 429) — (358, 437) — (50) aseed oil	Sardine oil			430)	
oseed oil 73 (1, 427)	Soybean oil	67-75 (1, 427,		37,* 434)	
oseed oil 73 (1, 427)		429)			
oseed oil 73 (1, 427)	Tall oil		- (358, 437)		
	Tallow		— (2 0)		
	Tobaccoseed oil	73 (1, 427)			
				-	

			75 (438,
			(440)
	- (438, 439)		- (438, 441)
3-Methylglucal	na nanasa		30 (442)
Methylheptenone	(8)		
Benzylideneacetone	(6) —		
	(6, 9)		
	59 (443)		
	(6, 8)		
Triacetylgalactal			33 (440)
Triacetylglucal			30 (441, 442)
			— (444)
			90 (439)
	96.5 (445)	(446)	
	86 (445)	60-70 (446)	
α-Dihydroionone		50 (447)	

	Ethylenic Compound	Yield of	Yield of Oxirane, % (Reference)	rence)	Yield of	Yield of α-Glycol, % (Reference)	erence)
Formula	Name	Perbenzoic Acid	Monoper- phthalic Acid	Peracetic Acid	Peracetic Acid	Performic Acid	Perbenzoic

		DRGANIC REACTIO	ONS				EPC	OXIDATION OF	F ETHYLE	NIC COMPO	UNDS		423
Acid		30 (448)		— (450) — (456)									
Performic Acid	7 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T			71 (453)		95 (459)				(370)			
Feracetic Acid	ntinued			100 (138) (138) 55-100 (32, 138)				(460) 60 (460) (460)	- (460)				
reracetic Acid	e derivatives)—Con			62 (24)		- (32)				65 (465, 466) 38 (465, 466) 29 (465, 466) 59 (465, 466) 45 (465, 466) 53 (465, 466)	— (466) 89 (465, 466) 45 (465, 466)	- (355)	- (355)
Acid	luding carbohydrat	60 (445)	G. Ethers		•		Miscellaneous	— (461) 69 (461) 85 (461)					
r et bettgote Acta	des and Ketones (incl	- (387) 45-55 (387) - (387) - (416) - (247)		25 (451) 58 (452) — (121) 45 (170) 35 (454) — (203) 85 (377, 457)		— (457) 50 (454) 25 (454) 60 (458)	П.	8 (469)	0 1 0 1		90 (467)		
	F. Aldehya	11-Keto-1-tridecene Tetraacetyl-1-glucosene Methyl \alpha-ionone 11-Keto-1-tetradecene \alpha-Dihydroionone ethylene ketal 11-Keto-11-phenyl-1-hendecene Lanostenone Euphenone		Furan Ethyl vinyl ether 5,6-Dihydro-1,2-pyran Diallyl ether 2-Propenyldioxolane Phenyl allyl ether α,α'-Diallylglycerol Isosafrole Safrole Anethole Methyl cinnamyl ether Eugenol		Isoeugenol Ethyl cinnamyl ether Allyl cinnamyl ether Hydroquinone diallyl ether Dispiro[dicyclohexane-2,5-dibydrofuran] Cardanol methyl ether		Butadiene sulfone β-Isoprene sulfone Dimethylbutadiene sulfone 2-Ethyl-2-pentenamide 2-Ethyl-2-hexenamide 2-Propyl-2-pentenamide Furfural diacetate	e e	Oleamide N-Methyloleamide N-Acetyloleamide n-11-Eicosenamide N-(2-Hydroxyethyl) oleamide N-Phenyloleamide N-(n-Hexyloleamide)	α-Phellandrene-β-naphthol adduct (p-nitrobenzoate) N-(α-Naphthyl) oleamide N-(n-Decyl) oleamide N-(n-Dodecyl) oleamide	N-Amylamides of unsaturated fatty	acids N,N-Dibutylamides of unsaturated fatty acids
		C ₁₃ H ₂₄ O C ₁₄ H ₁₈ O ₉ C ₁₄ H ₂₂ O C ₁₄ H ₂₆ O C ₁₇ H ₂₄ O C ₁₇ H ₂₄ O C ₃₀ H ₄₈ O C ₃₀ H ₅₀ O		C4H40 C4H30 C6H100 C6H100 C6H100 C9H100 C10H100 C10H120		C ₁₁ H ₁₄ O C ₁₂ H ₁₄ O C ₁₂ H ₁₄ O ₂ C ₁₄ H ₂₂ O C ₂₂ H ₃₆ O				C ₁₈ H ₃₆ NO C ₁₉ H ₃₇ NO C ₂₀ H ₃₇ NO ₂ C ₂₀ H ₃₉ NO C ₂₄ H ₃₉ NO C ₂₄ H ₄₇ NO	C ₂₇ H ₂₇ NO ₄ C ₂₈ H ₄₁ NO C ₂₈ H ₅₅ NO ₂ C ₃₀ H ₅₉ NO ₂		

Addendum to Table I

The compounds appearing in this addendum are listed alphabetically in sections which correspond to those in Table I.

Compound	Peracid	Product	Yield	Referenc
A. Hydr	ocarbons and Substituted	Hydrocarbons		
3-Acetoxy-1-cyclohexene	Peracetic, performic	Triol	20-25	468
α-Amyrene	Peracetic	Oxirane		469
1-(2-Biphenyl)-3,4-dihydronaphtha- lene	Monoperphthalic	Oxirane	_	470
α-Cyclohexylideneethylbenzene	Performic	Glycol	42	471
α-Cyclohexylstyrene	Performic	Glycol	42	471
3-Methoxy-1-cyclohexene	Peracetic	Glycol	30	468
1-Phenyl-1-(2-biphenylyl)ethylene	Perbenzoic	Aldehyde (via the oxirane)		470
	B. Steroids			
3β-Acetoxy-7,8-epoxy-9(11),22-ergo- stadiene dibromide	Perbenzoic	Glycol		472
3β-Acetoxy-7,9(11),20-ergostatriene	Perbenzoie	Oxirane		472
3β-Acetoxy-7,9,22-ergostatriene	Monoperphthalic	Oxirane		473
16,20(22)-Allofurostadiene-3β,26-di- ol diacetate	Monoperphthalic	Oxirane		474
Allopregnane-11,20-dienol acetate	Perbenzoic	Glycol		475
8(14)-Androsten-3β,17β-diol diace- tate	Monoperphthalic	Oxirane	10-35	476
9-Androsten-3 α -ol-17-one	Perbenzoic	Oxirane		477
ββ-Benzoxy-7,9(11)-cholestadiene	Monoperphthalic	Oxirane	70	478
3β-Benzoxy-7-cholestene	Monoperphthalic	Oxirane	50	478
2-Cholesten-6-one	Perbenzoic	Oxirane		479
3β,17β-Diacetoxy-7,9(11)-andro- stadiene	Monoperphthalic	Oxirane	40	478
22,23-Dibromo-3β-acetoxy- 7,9(11)-ergostadiene	Peracetic	Oxirane	-	472
7,9(11),22-Ergostatrien-3β-ol acetate	Perbenzoic	Oxirane		480
9-Etiocholen-3α-ol-17-one	Perbenzoic	Oxirane		477
Methyl 3α-acetoxy-7,9-choladienate	Monoperphthalic	Oxirane		473
Methyl 3α-hydroxy-9(11)-cholenate	Perbenzoic	Oxirane		481
5β-Methyl-3β-methoxy-19-nor- coprost-9(10)-en-6-one	Peracetic	Oxirane		482
3\beta,6\beta-diol diacetate	Peracetic	Oxirane	-	482
9(11),17(20)-Pregnadiene-	Perbenzoic	Oxirane		483
3α,11,20-triol triacetate 0(11)-Tigogenin acetate	Perbenzoic	Oxirane	_	481

C. Acids

cis-9-Hendecenoic	Performie	Glycol	30	484
trans-9-Hendecenoic	Performie	Glycol	55	484

Addendum to Table I—Continued

Compound	Peracid	Product	Yield	Reference
	E. Esters			
α-Amyrin acetate	Peracetic	Oxirane	20	469
α-Amyrin benzoate	Peracetic	Oxirane	50	469
cis-2-Buten-1,4-diol diacetate	Peracetic	Tetraacetate	57	485
trans-2-Buten-1,4-diol diacetate	Peracetic, performic	Tetraacetate,	51-79	485
Methyl acetyleburicoate	Perbenzoic	Oxirane		486
Methyl morolate acetate	Perbenzoic, peracetic	Oxirane	80	487
Methyl morolate benzoate	Peracetic	Oxirane	-	487
Moradiol diacetate	Peracetic	Oxirane		487
α-Noramyrenonyl acetate	Perbenzoic	Oxirane	_	488
Peach oil	Peracetic	Not isolated		489
Zeorinin acetate	Peracetic	Oxirane	_	490
Zeorinin benzoate	Peracetic	Oxirane	-	490
	G. Ethers			
D. (0 (1 I	D	GII		405
Butyl p-(2-methylalloxy)benzoate m-Carbobutoxyphenyl 2-methallyl ether	Peracetic Peracetic	Glycol	50	491 491
4-Chloro-3-methylphenyl 2-methallyl ether	Peracetic	Glycol	50	491
p-Chlorophenyl 2-methallyl ether	Peracetic -	Glycol + oxirane		491
3,5-Dimethylphenyl 2-methallyl ether	Peracetic, performic	Glycol	650	491
2-Methallyl m-nitrophenyl ether	Peracetic	Glycol	33	491
2-Methallyl phenyl ether	Peracetic	Glycol + oxirane	42 + 25	491
2-Methallyl m-tolyl ether	Peracetic, performic	Glycol	6-25	491
2-Methallyl o-tolyl ether	Peracetic	Glycol + oxirane	20	491
2-Methallyl p-tolyl ether	Peracetic	Glycol + oxirane	-	491
5,6-Dihydro-2-pyran 2,5-Dihydro-2,2,5,5-tetramethylfuran	Performic Performic	Glycol Oxirane	60 25	$\frac{492}{492}$
2,5-15my 010-2,2,0,5-tetramethy from an	1 errorime	Oxitatie	20	402
	H. Miscellaneous			
2-Methallyl chloride	Peracetic	Glycol		491

REFERENCES FOR TABLE I

- 120 Tomisek and Mahler, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 4685 (1951).
- ¹²¹ Everett and Kon, J. Chem. Soc., **1950**, 3131.
- ¹²² Himel and Edmonds, U. S. pat. 2,555,927 [C. A., 46, 524 (1952)].
- ¹²³ Owen, J. Chem. Soc., **1949**, 241.
- ¹²⁴ British Drug Houses, Ltd., Bradley, Forrest, and Stephenson, Brit. pat. 613,735 [C. A., 42, 473 (1949)].
 - 125 Mousseron and Jacquier, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1950, 698.
 - 126 Mousseron, Winternitz, and Jacquier, Compt. rend., 223, 1014 (1946.)
 - ¹²⁷ Wieland, Bergel, Schwarz, Schepp, and Fukelman, Ann., 446, 13 (1925).
 - ¹²⁸ G. W. Reindel, thesis, University of Erlangen, 1931 [C. A., 27, 1637 (1933)].
 - ¹²⁹ Böeseken, Rec. trav. chim., **54**, 657 (1935).
 - 130 Mousseron, Winternitz, Jullien, and Jacquier, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1948, 79.
 - ¹³¹ Bedos and Ruyer, Compt. rend., 195, 802 (1932).
- ¹³² Mousseron, Richaud, Granger, Winternitz, Combes, Canals, Souche, Cabanes, and Froger, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1946, 629.
- ¹³³ Mousseron, Winternitz, and Jacquier, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1948, 260.
- ¹³⁴ Mousseron, Winternitz, and Jacquier, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1947, 81.
- ¹³⁵ Böeseken, Rec. trav. chim., 45, 838 (1926).
- ¹³⁶ Kötz and Hoffman, J. prakt. Chem., [2] **110**, 101 (1925).
- ¹³⁷ Böeseken and Schneider, J. prakt. Chem., [2] **131**, 285 (1931).
- ¹³⁸ Böeseken and Elsen, Rec. trav. chim., 48, 363 (1929).
- ¹³⁹ Rigby, J. Chem. Soc., **1950**, 1907.
- ¹⁴⁰ Schering-Kahlbaum A.G., Ger. pat. 574,838 [C. A., 27, 4540 (1933)].
- ¹⁴¹ Adkins and Roebuck, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 4041 (1948).
- ¹⁴² Treibs and Schulz, Chem. Ber., 80, 214 (1947).
- ¹⁴³ Wiggins and Wood, J. Chem. Soc., 1950, 1566.
- ¹⁴⁴ Lutz, Bearse, Leonard, and Croxton, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 4139 (1948).
- ¹⁴⁵ Paul and Tchelitcheff, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1948, 896.
- ¹⁴⁶ Paul and Tchelitcheff, Compt. rend., 225, 1334 (1947).
- ¹⁴⁷ Hackmann, Dutch pat. 63,605 [C. A., 43, 7503 (1949)].
- ¹⁴⁸ Cahnmann and Daniels, U. S. pat. 2,501,026 [C. A., 44, 5902 (1950)].
- ¹⁴⁹ Nazarov and Akhren, Izvest. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R., Otdel. Khim. Nauk., 1950, 621 [C. A., 45, 8516 (1951)].
 - ¹⁵⁰ Mousseron, Jullien, and Winternitz, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1948, 878.
 - ¹⁵¹ Mousseron, Winternitz, and Jullien, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1947, 80.
 - 152 Böeseken and Derx, Rec. trav. chim., 40, 529 (1921).
 - ¹⁵³ Nametkin and Jarzeff, Ber., 56, 1803 (1923).
 - ¹⁵⁴ Nametkin and Brussoff, Ber., **56**, 1807 (1923).
 - 155 Mousseron, Manon, and Combes, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1949, 396.
 - 156 Tiffeneau, Weill, and Tchoubar, Compt. rend., 205, 54 (1937).
 - ¹⁵⁷ Prileschajew, Ber., **59**, 194 (1926).
 - ¹⁵⁸ Levy and Pernot, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1838 (1931).
 - ¹⁵⁹ Favorskii, Chichonkin, and Ivanov, Compt. rend., 199, 1229 (1934).
 - ¹⁶⁰ Reppe, Schichting, Klager, and Toepel, Ann., 560, 1 (1948).
 - ^{160a} Friess and Boekelheide, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **71**, 4144 (1949).
 - ¹⁶¹ Cope and Tiffany, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 4158 (1951).
 - ¹⁶² Benoit, Bull. soc. chim. France, [5] 6, 708 (1939).
 - ¹⁶³ Böeseken and Derx, Rec. trav. chim., 40, 519 (1921).
 - ¹⁶⁴ Kaelin, Helv. Chim. Acta, **30**, 2133 (1947).
 - ¹⁶⁵ Abbott, U. S. pat. 2,553,996 [C. A., 45, 7820 (1951)].
 - ^{165a} Craig, U. S. pat. 2,571,208 [C. A., 46, 3563 (1952)].
 - ¹⁶⁶ Nametkin and Delektorski, Ber., **57**, 583 (1924).
 - ¹⁶⁷ Mousseron, Winternitz, and Combes, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1947, 79.

- ¹⁶⁸ I. G. Farbenindustrie A.G., Fr. pat. 816,055 [C. A., 32, 1277 (1938)].
- ¹⁶⁹ Swern, Scanlan, and Findley, U. S. pat. 2,492,201 [C. A., 44, 3521 (1950)].
- ¹⁷⁰ Fourneau and Chantalou, Bull. soc. chim. France, [5] 12, 845 (1945).
- ¹⁷¹ Bauer and Bähr, J. prakt. Chem., [2] **122**, 201 (1929).
- 172 Quelet, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 45, 75 (1929).
- 173 Levy and Sfiras, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1823 (1931).
- ¹⁷⁴ Levy and Sfiras, Compt. rend., 184, 1335 (1927).
- ¹⁷⁵ Levy and Dvoleitzka-Gombinska, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1765 (1931).
- ¹⁷⁶ Tiffeneau and Levy, Compt. rend., **184**, 1465 (1927).
- 177 Danilov and Venus-Danilova, Ber., 60, 1050 (1927).
- ¹⁷⁸ Criegee and Zogel, Chem. Ber., 84, 215 (1951).
- ¹⁷⁹ Mousseron and Granger, Compt. rend., 218, 358 (1944).
- ¹⁸⁰ Mousseron, Winternitz, Granger, Claret, Trinquier, and Combes. Bull. soc. chim. France, 1947, 598.
 - ¹⁸¹ Rothstein, Bull. soc. chim. France, [5] 2, 1936 (1935).
- ¹⁸² Tehoubar, Compt. rend., **214**, 117 (1942).
- ¹⁸³ Muskat and Herrman, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 54, 2001 (1932).
- ¹⁸⁴ Levy and Tabart, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1776 (1931).
- ¹⁸⁵ Tiffeneau and Levy, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 39, 763 (1926).
- 186 Tiffeneau, Orekhoff, and Levy, Compt. rend., 179, 977 (1924).
- ¹⁸⁷ Faidutti, Compt. rend., 189, 854 (1929).
- ¹⁸⁸ Isaeva and Arbuzov, Zhur. Obschei Khim., 19, 893 (1944) [C. A., 44, 3467 (1950)].
- ¹⁸⁹ Pillay and Simonsen, J. Chem. Soc., **1928**, 359.
- ¹⁹⁰ Lebedev and Merezhkovskii, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., **45**, 1249 (1913) [C. A., **8**, 321 (1914)].
 - ¹⁹¹ Prileschajew, Ger. pat. 230,723 [C. A., 5, 2699 (1911)].
- ¹⁹² Schmidt, Chem. Ber., 82, 11 (1949).
- ¹⁹³ Sword, J. Chem. Soc., **127**, 1632 (1925).
- ¹⁹⁴ Pigulevskii and Prokudina, *Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R.*, **67**, 511 (1949) [C. A., **44**, 1399 (1950)].
- 195 Birch, Oldham, and Johnson, J. Chem. Soc., 1947, 818.
- ¹⁹⁶ Nametkin and Jarzeff, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., **55**, 521 (1924) [C. A., **19**, 2818 (1925)].
- ¹⁹⁷ Prileschajew and Vershuk, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., **61**, 445 (1929) [C. A., **24**, 607 (1930)].
- ¹⁹⁸ Isaeva and Arbusov, Zhur. Obschei Khim., 19, 884 (1949) [C. A., 44, 3466 (1950)].
- 199 Elson, Gibson, and Simonsen, J. Chem. Soc., 132, 2732 (1929).
- ²⁰⁰ Richter and Presting, Ber., **64**, 1878 (1931).
- ²⁰¹ Tanaka, Mem. Coll. Sci., Kyoto Imp. Univ., A22, 97 (1939) [C. A., 34, 403 (1940)].
- ²⁹² Mousseron and Winternitz, Compt. rend., 229, 56 (1949).
- ²⁰³ Tiffeneau and Levy, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1738 (1931).
- ^{203a} Winternitz and Mousseron, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1949, 713.
- ²⁰⁴ Tiffeneau and Levy, Compt. rend., 190, 1510 (1930).
- ²⁰⁵ Lyepin, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., 44, 1165 (1912) [C. A., 7, 982 (1913)].
- ²⁰⁶ Tiffeneau, Levy, and Weill, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1709 (1931).
- ²⁰⁷ Levy and Pernot, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1721 (1931).
- ²⁰⁸ Levy and Sfiras, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1830 (1931).
- ²⁰⁹ Nametkin and Ivanoff, Ber., 56, 1805 (1923).
- ²¹⁰ Weill, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1795 (1931).
- ²¹¹ Baumgarten, Ber., **75**, 977 (1942).
- ²¹² Swern and Billen, U. S. pat. appl. 675,120; Official Gaz. U. S. Pat. Office, 648, 948 (1951) [C. A., 47, 604 (1953)].
- ²¹³ I. G. Farbenindustrie A.G., Fr. pat. 816,055 [C. A., 32, 1277 (1938)].
- ²¹⁴ Badran, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1551 (1931).
- ²¹⁵ Lutz and Murphey, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 478 (1949).
- ²¹⁶ Böeseken and Elsen, Rec. trav. chim., 47, 694 (1928).

- ²¹⁷ Kayser, Compt. rend., **196**, 1127 (1933).
- ²¹⁸ Newbold and Spring, J. Chem. Soc., **1945**, 247.
- ²¹⁹ Tiffeneau and Kuriaki, Compt. rend., 209, 465 (1939).
- ²²⁰ Bergmann, Pappo, and Ginsburg, J. Chem. Soc., 1950, 1369.
- ²²¹ Venus-Danilova, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., 61, 1479 (1929) [C. A., 24, 1354 (1930)].
- ²²² Swern and Billen, U. S. pat. 2,457,328 [C. A., 43, 3446 (1949)].
- ²²³ Swern and Billen, U. S. pat. appl. 675,121; Official Gaz. U. S. Pat. Office, 649, 603 (1951) [C. A., 47, 1184 (1953)].
- ²²⁴ Levy and Lagrave, Compt. rend., 180, 1032 (1925).
- ²²⁵ Weill, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1811 (1931).
- ²²⁶ Tiffeneau and Levy, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1806 (1931).
- ²²⁷ Weill and Kayser, Bull. soc. chim. France, [5] 3, 841 (1936).
- ²²⁸ Tiffeneau and Levy, Compt. rend., **182**, 391 (1926).
- ²²⁹ Levy and Pernot, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1730 (1931).
- ²³⁰ Rydon, J. Chem. Soc., 1939, 537.
- ²⁸¹ Treibs, Chem. Ber., 80, 56 (1947).
- ²³² Briggs and Taylor, J. Chem. Soc., 1947, 1338.
- ²³³ Dev and Guha, J. Indian Chem. Soc., 26, 263 (1949) [C. A., 44, 3949 (1950)].
- ²³⁴ Naves and Perrottet, Helv. Chim. Acta, 24, 789 (1941).
- ²³⁵ Ramart-Lucas and Salmon-Legagneur, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 45, 718 (1929).
- ²³⁶ Levy and Dvoleitzka-Gombinska, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 49, 1765 (1931).
- ²³⁷ Ramart-Lucas and Salmon-Legagneur, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 51, 1069 (1932).
- ²³⁸ Böhme Fettchem. G.m.b.H., Fr. pat. 795,391 [C. A., 30, 5238 (1936)].
- ²³⁹ Grün, U. S. pat. 2,138,917 [C. A., 33, 2249 (1939)].
- ²⁴⁰ Böeseken and Belinfante, Rec. trav. chim., 45, 914 (1926).
- ²⁴¹ Lane and Walters, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 4234 (1951).
- ²⁴² Bradsher, Rapoport, and Anderson, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 68, 2152 (1946).
- ²⁴³ Elphimoff-Felkin, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1950, 494.
- ²⁴⁴ Levy and Lagrave, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 43, 437 (1928).
- ²⁴⁵ Ruzicka, Silbermann, and Furter, Helv. Chim. Acta, 15, 482 (1932).
- ²⁴⁶ Ruzicka, Silbermann, and Pieth, Helv. Chim. Acta, 15, 1285 (1932).
- ²⁴⁷ Barbour, Bennett, and Warren, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 2540.
- ²⁴⁸ Nowak, Jeger, and Ruzicka, Helv. Chim. Acta, 32, 323 (1949).
- ²⁴⁹ Jeger, Montavon, Nowak, and Ruzicka, *Helv. Chim. Acta*, **30**, 1869 (1947).
- ²⁵⁰ Karrer and Jucker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 28, 471 (1945).
- ²⁵¹ Karrer and Jucker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 28, 427 (1945).
- ²⁵² Euler, Karrer, and Walker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 15, 1507 (1932).
- ²⁵³ Fuson, DeWald, and Gaertner, J. Org. Chem., 16, 21 (1951).
- ²⁵⁴ Pummerer and Burkard, Ber., 55, 3458 (1922).
- ²⁵⁵ Pummerer and Rebmann, Ber., **61**, 1099 (1928).
- ²⁵⁶ Kambara, Muramatsu, Maruyama, and Tokimoto, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. Japan, 46, 41, 1259 (1943) [C. A., 43, 1595 (1949)].
- ²⁵⁷ Kambara and Muramatsu, J. Soc. Rubber Ind. Japan, 16, 676 (1943) [C. A., 44, 3283 (1950)].
 - ²⁵⁸ Kritchevsky and Gallagher, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **73**, 184 (1951).
 - ²⁵⁹ Ciba, Ltd., Brit. pat. 623,586 [C. A., 44, 3044 (1950)].
 - ²⁶⁰ Plattner, Ruzicka, Heusser, and Angliker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 385 (1947).
 - ²⁶¹ Plattner, Heusser, and Kulkarni, Helv. Chim. Acta, 32, 265 (1949).
 - ²⁶² Plattner, Heusser, and Kulkarni, Helv. Chim. Acta, 32, 1070 (1949).
 - ²⁶³ Kathol, Logemann, and Serini, Naturwissenschaften, 25, 682 (1937).
 - ²⁶⁴ Seebeck and Reichstein, Helv. Chim. Acta, 26, 536 (1943).
 - ²⁶⁵ Salmon and Reichstein, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 1929 (1947).
 - ²⁶⁶ Lardon and Reichstein, Helv. Chim. Acta, 34, 756 (1951).
 - ²⁶⁶ Ruzicka and Bosshard, Helv. Chim. Acta, 20, 244 (1937).
 - ²⁶⁷ Shoppee, Helv. Chim. Acta, **30**, 766 (1947).
- ²⁶⁸ Reich and Lardon, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 329 (1947).

- ²⁶⁹ Plattner, Ruzicka, Heusser, and Meier, Helv. Chim. Acta, 29, 2023 (1946).
- ²⁷⁰ Wieland and Dane, Z. physiol. Chem., 212, 263 (1932).
- ²⁷¹ Borsche and Todd, Z. physiol. Chem., 197, 173 (1931).
- ²⁷² Callow, J. Chem. Soc., 1936, 462.
- ²⁷³ Wieland and Deulofeu, Z. physiol. Chem., 198, 127 (1931).
- ²⁷⁴ Plattner, Ruzicka, and Holtermann, Helv. Chim. Acta, 28, 1660 (1945).
- ²⁷⁵ Bergmann and Skau, J. Org. Chem., 5, 439 (1940).
- ²⁷⁶ Fürst and Plattner, Helv. Chim. Acta, 32, 275 (1949).
- ²⁷⁷ Heilbron, Shaw, and Spring, Rec. trav. chim., 57, 529 (1938).
- ²⁷⁸ Plattner, Petrzilka, and Lang, Helv. Chim. Acta, 27, 513 (1944).
- ²⁷⁹ Ruzicka, Furter, and Thomann, Helv. Chim. Acta, 16, 327 (1933).
- ²⁸⁰ Reich, Walker, and Collins, J. Org. Chem., 16, 1752 (1951).
- ²⁸¹ Buser, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 1379 (1947).
- ²⁸² Plattner, Heusser, Troxler, and Segre, Helv. Chim. Acta, 31, 852 (1948).
- ²⁸³ Westphalen, Ber., 48, 1064 (1915).
- ²⁸⁴ Fieser and Rajagopalan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 3938 (1949).
- ²⁸⁵ Clemo, Keller, and Weiss, J. Chem. Soc., 1950, 3470.
- ²⁸⁶ Pirrone, Atti Xo congr. intern. chim., 3, 290 (1939) [C. A., 33, 9309 (1939)].
- ²⁸⁷ Pickard and Yates, J. Chem. Soc., 93, 1678 (1908).
- ²⁸⁸ Hicks, Berg, and Wallis, J. Biol. Chem., 162, 645 (1946).
- ²⁸⁹ Spring and Swain, J. Chem. Soc., 1939, 1356.
- ²⁹⁰ Baxter and Spring, J. Chem. Soc., 1943, 613.
- ²⁹¹ Ushakov and Lyutenberg, Bull. soc. chim. France, [5] 4, 1394 (1937).
- ²⁹² Ushakov and Lyutenberg, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 7, 1821 (1937) [C. A., 32, 577 (1938)].
- ²⁹³ Miescher and Fischer, Helv. Chim. Acta, 21, 336 (1938).
- ²⁹⁴ Ruzicka, Grob, and Raschka, Helv. Chim. Acta, 23, 1518 (1940).
- ²⁹⁵ Ruzicka and Muhr, Helv. Chim. Acta, 27, 503 (1944).
- ²⁹⁶ Ehrenstein and Decker, J. Org. Chem., 5, 544 (1940).
- ²⁹⁷ Ehrenstein, J. Org. Chem., 6, 626 (1941).
- ²⁹⁸ Ehrenstein, J. Org. Chem., 4, 506 (1939).
- ²⁹⁹ Davis and Petrow, J. Chem. Soc., 1949, 2973.
- 300 Petrow, J. Chem. Soc., 1939, 998.
- 301 Plattner, Ruzicka, Heusser, and Angliker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 395 (1947).
- 302 Bergmann and Stevens, J. Org. Chem., 13, 10 (1948).
- 303 Wieland and Dane, Z. physiol. Chem., 206, 243 (1932).
- ³⁰⁴ Windaus and Lüttringhaus, Ann., 481, 119 (1930).
- ³⁰⁵ Ciba, Ltd., Swiss pat. 267,852 [C. A., 45, 7158 (1951)].
- ³⁰⁶ Mattox, Turner, Engle, McKenzie, McGuckin, and Kendall, J. Biol. Chem., 164, 569 (1946).
 - ³⁰⁷ Ciba, Ltd., Swiss pat. 253,707 [C. A., 44, 3042 (1950)].
 - 308 Dobriner, Lieberman, Hariton, Sarett, and Rhoads, J. Biol. Chem., 169, 221 (1947).
 - ³⁰⁹ Lardon and Liebermann, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 1373 (1947).
 - 310 McKenzie, McGuckin, and Kendall, J. Biol. Chem., 162, 555 (1946).
 - 311 Djerassi, Martinez, and Rosenkranz, J. Org. Chem., 16, 1278 (1951).
 - 312 Wieland, Dietz, and Ottawa, Z. physiol. Chem., 244, 194 (1936).
 - 313 Heusser, Feurer, Eichenberger, and Prelog, Helv. Chim. Acta, 33, 2243 (1950).
 - ³¹⁴ Julian, Meyer, and Ryden, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 367 (1950).
- ³¹⁵ Pataki, Rosenkranz, and Djerassi, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 5375 (1951).
- 316 Ruzicka, Plattner, Heusser, and Pataki, Helv. Chim. Acta, 29, 936 (1946).
- 317 Heusser, Jensen, Frick, and Plattner, Helv. Chim. Acta, 32, 1326 (1949).
- ³¹⁸ Reichstein, U. S. pat. 2,503,842 [C. A., 44, 6892 (1950)].
- 319 Press and Reichstein, Helv. Chim. Acta, 25, 878 (1942).
- 320 Ruzicka, Plattner, Heusser, and Meier, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 1342 (1947).
- 321 Heymann and Fieser, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 4054 (1951).
- 322 Berner, Lardon, and Reichstein, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 1542 (1947).

- 323 Reich and Reichstein, Helv. Chim. Acta, 26, 562 (1943).
- ³²⁴ Alther and Reichstein, *Helv. Chim. Acta*, **25**, 805 (1942).
- ³²⁵ Sarett, J. Biol. Chem., **162**, 591 (1946).
- 326 Burckhardt and Reichstein, Helv. Chim. Acta, 25, 821 (1942).
- ³²⁷ Fieser and Rajagopalan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 118 (1951).
- ³²⁸ Schmid and Kägi, Helv. Chim. Acta, 33, 1582 (1950).
- ³²⁹ Julian, Meyer, and Ryden, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **71**, 756 (1949).
- 330 Ruzicka, Goldberg, and Hardegger, Helv. Chim. Acta, 25, 1297 (1942).
- ³³¹ Serini and Logemann, Ber., **71**, 1362 (1938).
- ³³² Braun, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **52**, 3185 (1930).
- 333 Böeseken and Maas Geesteranus, Rec. trav. chim., 51, 551 (1932).
- ³³⁴ Braun, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **52**, 3188 (1930).
- 335 Stoll, Bolle, and Ruzicka, Helv. Chim. Acta, 33, 1510 (1950).
- ³³⁶ Harris and Smith, J. Chem. Soc., 1935, 1572.
- ³³⁷ DalNogare and Bricker, J. Org. Chem., 15, 1299 (1950).
- 338 Ross, Gebhart, and Gerecht, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 67, 1275 (1945).
- ³³⁹ Cocker and Lipman, J. Chem. Soc., **1949**, 1170.
- ³⁴⁰ Hunsdiecker, Ber., 77, 185 (1944).
- ³⁴¹ Böeseken, Hoogland, Broek, and Smit, Rec. trav. chim., 46, 619 (1927).
- 342 Bauer, Chem. Umschau Gebiete Fette, Öle, Wachse u. Harze, 33, 198 (1929).
- ³⁴³ Bauer and Kutscher, Chem. Umschau Gebiete Fette, Öle, Wachse u. Harze, 32, 57 (1925).
- ³⁴⁴ McKay and Bader, J. Org. Chem., 13, 75 (1948).
- ³⁴⁵ Green and Hilditch, Biochem. J., 29, 1552 (1935).
- ³⁴⁶ Smith and Chibnall, Biochem. J., 26, 218 (1932).
- ³⁴⁷ Pigulevskii and Rokityanskii, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 7, 882 (1937) [C. A., 31, 5759 (1937)].
 - ³⁴⁸ Myers, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **73**, 2100 (1951).
 - 349 Fusari, Greenlee, and Brown, J. Am. Oil Chemists' Soc., 28, 416 (1951).
 - 350 Huber, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 2730 (1951).
- ³⁵¹ Pigulevskii and Simonova, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 9, 1928 (1939) [C. A., 34, 4381] (1940)].
 - 352 Benedict and Daubert, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 4356 (1950).
- 353 Pigulevskii and Petrov, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., 58, 1062 (1926) [C. A., 22, 943] (1928)].
 - 354 Swern and Findley, U. S. pat. 2,455,892 [C. A., 43, 2224 (1949)].
 - 355 Terry and Wheeler, U. S. pat. 2,458,484 [C. A., 43, 3030 (1949)].
 - 356 Bennet and Gudgeon, J. Chem. Soc., 1938, 1679.
 - 357 Dorée and Pepper, J. Chem. Soc., 1942, 477.
 - 358 Gruber and Machemer, U. S. pat. 2,332,849 [C. A., 38, 1821 (1944)].
 - 359 Nicolet and Poulter, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 52, 1186 (1930).
 - ³⁵⁰ Raczynski, U. S. pat. 2,510,905 [C. A., 44, 8945 (1950)].
 - 361 Scanlan and Swern, U. S. pat. 2,285,059 [C. A., 36, 6546 (1942)].
 - 362 Scanlan and Swern, U. S. pat. 2,304,064 [C. A., 37, 2743 (1943)].
 - 363 Swern and Scanlan, U. S. pat. 2,443,280 [C. A., 42, 8819 (1948)].
 - ³⁶⁴ Wittcoff, Moe, and Iwen, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 742 (1948).
 - ³⁶⁵ Polgar, Biochem. J., **42**, 206 (1948).
 - 366 Atherton and Hilditch, J. Chem. Soc., 1943, 204.
 - 366a Hofmann, Lucas, and Sax, J. Biol. Chem., 195, 473 (1952).
 - ³⁶⁷ Bumpus, Taylor, and Strong, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 2116 (1950).
 - ^{367a} Gensler and Thomas, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **74**, 3942 (1952).
 - ³⁶⁸ Gupta, Hilditch, Paul, and Shrivastava, J. Chem. Soc., 1950, 3484.
 - ³⁶⁹ Kass and Radlove, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **64**, 2253 (1942).
 - 370 Hopkins, Chisholm, and Harris, Can. J. Research, 27B, 35 (1949).
 - ³⁷¹ Baliga and Hilditch, J. Chem. Soc., **1949**, 591.
- ³⁷² Hopkins, Can. J. Research, 24B, 211 (1946).
- ³⁷³ Izzo and Dawson, J. Org. Chem., 14, 1039 (1949).

- 374 Ruzicka, Rey, and Spillman, Helv. Chim. Acta, 25, 1375 (1942).
- Weitkamp, Smiljanic, and Rothman, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 69, 1936 (1947).
- ³⁷⁶ Bergsteinsson, Evans, and Scheibli, U. S. pat. 2,500,599 [C. A., 44, 5381 (1950)].

EPOXIDATION OF ETHYLENIC COMPOUNDS

- ³⁷⁷ Jahn and Hibbert, Can. J. Research, 8, 199 (1933).
- ³⁷⁸ Bergmann and Miekely, Ann., 432, 319 (1923).
- ³⁷⁹ Bergmann, Miekely, and Stather, Ber., 56, 2255 (1923).
- 380 Fischer, Baer, Feldmann, and Ahlström, Ber., 63, 1732 (1930).
- ^{380a} Fusco and Trave, Gazz. chim. ital., 80, 366 (1950) [C. A., 45, 3817 (1951)].
- ³⁸¹ Yale, Pribyl, Braker, Bernstein, and Lott, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 3716 (1950).
- ³⁸² Muskat and Herrman, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 53, 260 (1931).
- ³⁸³ Kötz and Steche, J. prakt. Chem., [2] **107**, 193 (1927).
- 384 Naves and Bachmann, Helv. Chim. Acta, 28, 1227 (1945).
- 386 Prileschajew and Vershuk, J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc., 61, 473 (1929) [C. A., 23, 4463] (1929)].
- 386 Lorand and Reese, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 4596 (1950).
- 387 Levy and Wellisch, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 45, 930 (1929).
- 388 Stoll, Bolle, and Ruzicka, Helv. Chim. Acta, 33, 1515 (1950).
- 389 Société des usines chimiques Rhône-Poulenc, Fr. pat. 804,321 [C. A., 31, 2613 (1937)].
- ³⁹⁰ Swern, U. S. pat. 2,411,762 [C. A., 41, 1698 (1947)].
- ³⁹¹ Swern and Billen, U. S. pat. 2,457,329 [C. A., 43, 3660 (1949)].
- 392 Karrer and Jucker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 28, 717 (1945).
- 393 Karrer and Jucker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 559 (1947).
- ³⁹⁴ Takeda, J. Pharm. Soc. Japan, **63**, 197 (1943) [C. A., **45**, 586 (1951)].
- 395 Vilkas, Dupont, and Dulov, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1949, 813.
- ³⁹⁶ Takeda, J. Pharm. Soc. Japan, **62**, 390 (1942) [C. A., **45**, 4696 (1951)].
- 397 Karrer, Jucker, and Steinlin, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 531 (1947).
- 398 Heinänen, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fennicae, A49, No. 4, 58 (1938) [C. A., 32, 2903 (1938)].
- 399 Heinänen, Suomen Kemistilehti, 11B, 2 (1938) [C. A., 32, 2903 (1938)].
- 400 Böeseken and Jacobs, Rec. trav. chim., 55, 804 (1936).
- 401 Mousseron, Winternitz, and Jacquier, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1947, 83.
- ⁴⁰² Levy and Daniels, U. S. pat. 2,464,137 [C. A., 43, 4291 (1949)].
- 403 Vodoz and Schinz, Helv. Chim. Acta, 33, 1040 (1950).
- ⁴⁰⁴ English, Gregory, and Trowbridge, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **73**, 615 (1951).
- ⁴⁰⁵ Clarke, U. S. pat. 2,510,802 [C. A., 44, 7869 (1950)].
- 406 Pigulevskii and Vasilev, J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.), 1, 235 (1931) [C. A., 26, 2170] (1932)].
 - ⁴⁰⁷ Hilditch and Lea, J. Chem. Soc., 1928, 1576.
- 408 Steger and Van Loon, Rec. trav. chim., 46, 703 (1927).
- 409 Hilditch and Jones, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. (London), 46, 174T (1927).
- ^{409a} Mukherjee, Indian Soap J., **16**, 183 (1951) [C. A., **45**, 10617 (1951)].
- ⁴¹⁰ King, J. Chem. Soc., **1949**, 1817.
- 411 Ruzicka and Frank, Helv. Chim. Acta, 15, 1294 (1932).
- 412 Ruzicka and Sternbach, Helv. Chim. Acta, 23, 124 (1940).
- ⁴¹³ Spring, J. Chem. Soc., 1933, 1345.
- 414 Barbour, Warren, and Wood, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 2537.
- 415 David, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1949, 155.
- 416 Bellamy and Dorée, J. Chem. Soc., 1941, 176.
- ⁴¹⁷ Dorée and Petrow, J. Chem. Soc., 1936, 1562.
- ⁴¹⁸ Koller, Hilstand, Dietrich, and Jeger, Helv. Chim. Acta, 33, 1050 (1950).
- ^{418a} Barton, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 1444.
- ⁴¹⁹ Kuwayama, J. Nippon Oil Technol. Soc., 1, No. 4, 27 (1948) [C. A., 43, 5611 (1949)].
- 420 Vilkas, Bull. soc. chim. France, 1950, 582.
- ⁴²¹ Lahey and Strasser, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 873.
- 422 Ruzicka, Baumgartner, and Prelog, Helv. Chim. Acta, 32, 2057 (1949).
- 423 Ruzicka, Baumgartner, and Prelog, Helv. Chim. Acta, 32, 2069 (1949). 424 Karrer and Jucker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 29, 229 (1946).

- 425 Karrer and Jucker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 28, 300 (1945).
- 426 Karrer and Jucker, Helv. Chim. Acta, 28, 1143 (1945).
- ⁴²⁷ Swern and Findley, U. S. pat. 2,569,502.
- ⁴²⁸ Hubbuch, U. S. pat. 2,073,011 [C. A., **31**, 3274 (1937)].
- ⁴²⁹ Niederhauser, U. S. pat. 2,556,145 [C. A., 45, 7371 (1951)].
- ⁴³⁰ De Groote and Kaiser, U. S. pat. 2,470,808 [C. A., 43, 7221 (1949)].
- ⁴³¹ Imata, J. Nippon Oil Technol. Soc., 2, No. 4, 1 (1949) [C. A., 44, 1268 (1950)].
- ⁴³² Ishii, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. Japan, **44**, Suppl. binding 219 (1941) [C. A., **44**, 7766 (1950)].
- ⁴³³ Isii, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. Japan, **43**, Suppl. binding 255 (1940) [C. A., **35**, 2019 (1941)].
- ⁴³⁴ Isii, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. Japan, **43**, Suppl. binding 256 (1940) [C. A., **35**, 2019 (1941)].
- ⁴³⁵ Isii, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. Japan, **43**, Suppl. binding 315 (1940) [C. A., **35**, 2019 (1941)].
- ⁴³⁶ Oda, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. Japan, **41**, Suppl. binding 195 (1938) [C. A., **32**, 7757 (1938)].
- ⁴³⁷ Richter and Miskel, U. S. pat. 2,451,173 [C. A., 43, 895 (1949)].
- ⁴³⁸ Bergmann and Schotte, Ber., **54**, 440 (1921).
- 439 Bergmann and Schotte, Ber., 54, 1564 (1921).
- ⁴⁴⁰ Levene and Tipson, J. Biol. Chem., **93**, 631 (1931).
- ⁴⁴¹ Tanaka, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 5, 214 (1930) [C. A., 24, 5026 (1930)].
- ⁴⁴² Levene and Raymond, J. Biol. Chem., 88, 513 (1930).
- 443 Prileschajew, Bull. soc. chim. France, [4] 41, 687 (1927).
- 444 Bergmann, Ann., 434, 79 (1923).
- 445 Naves, Schwarzkopf, and Lewis, Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 880 (1947).
- 446 Karrer and Stürzinger, Helv. Chim. Acta, 29, 1829 (1946).
- 447 Stoll, Bolle, and Ruzicka, Helv. Chim. Acta, 33, 1502 (1950).
- ⁴⁴⁸ Stacey and Turton, J. Chem. Soc., **1946**, 661.
- 449 Stoll and Hinder, Helv. Chim. Acta, 34, 334 (1951).
- 450 Böeseken, Vermy, Bunge, and Meeuwen, Rec. trav. chim., 50, 1023 (1931).
- 451 Bergmann and Miekely, Ber., 54, 2150 (1921).
- 452 Paul and Tchelitcheff, Compt. rend., 224, 1722 (1947).
- ⁴⁵³ Wittcoff, Roach, and Miller, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 2666 (1949).
- 454 Werner, Rec. trav. chim., 67, 442 (1948).
- 455 Roach and Wittcoff, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 3944 (1949).
- 456 Schulz and Treibs, Ber., 77, 377 (1944).
- ⁴⁵⁷ Darmon, Compt. rend., 197, 1649 (1933).
- 458 Chanley, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 829 (1949).
- ⁴⁵⁹ Izzo and Dawson, J. Org. Chem., 15, 707 (1950).
- 460 Van Zuydewijn, Rec. trav. chim., 57, 445 (1938).
- ⁴⁶¹ Shelton and Wheeler, U. S. pat. 2,493,090 [C. A., 44, 2552 (1950)].
- ⁴⁶² Schiebler, Jeschke, and Beiser, J. prakt. Chem., [2] **137**, 322 (1933).
- 463 Bergmann, Ulpts, and Witte, Ber., 56, 679 (1923).
- ⁴⁶⁴ Komada, J. Chem. Soc. Japan, **59**, 477 (1938) [C. A., **32**, 9083 (1938)].
- ⁴⁶⁵ Roe, Scanlan, and Swern, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 2219 (1949).
- 466 Scanlan, Swern, and Roe, U. S. pat. 2,567,237 [C. A., 46, 3560 (1952)].
- ⁴⁶⁷ Salfeld, Ber., **73**, 376 (1940).

References for Addendum

- 468 Gogek, Moir, McRae, and Purves, Can. J. Chem., 29, 938 (1951).
- ⁴⁶⁹ McLean, Silverstone, and Spring, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 1935.
- ⁴⁷⁰ Weisenborn and Taub, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74, 1329 (1952).
- ⁴⁷¹ Russell, Stroup, and English, J. Am. Chem. Soc., **74**, 3882 (1952).
- ⁴⁷² Anderson, Budziarek, Newbold, Stevenson, and Spring, Chemistry & Industry, **1951**, 1035.
- ⁴⁷³ Heusser, Eichenberger, Kurath, Dällenbach, and Jeger, Helv. Chim. Acta, **34**, 2106 (1951).
- 474 Nussbaum, Sandoval, Rosenkranz, and Djerassi, J. Org. Chem., 17, 426 (1952)

- 475 Rosenkranz, Pataki, and Djerassi, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 4055 (1951).
- ⁴⁷⁶ Antonucci, Bernstein, Giancola, and Sax, J. Org. Chem., 16, 1891 (1951).
- ⁴⁷⁷ Lieberman, Hariton, Humphries, Rhoads, and Dobriner, J. Biol. Chem., 196, 793 (1952).
- ⁴⁷⁸ Heusser, Heusler, Eichenberger, Honegger, and Jeger, Helv. Chim. Acta, **35**, 295 (1952).
 - ⁴⁷⁹ Shoppee and Summers, J. Chem. Soc., **1952**, 1790.
- ⁴⁸⁰ Chamberlin, Ruyle, Erickson, Chemerda, Aliminosa, Erickson, Sita, and Tishler, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 2396 (1951).
 - ⁴⁸¹ Constantin and Sarett, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74, 3908 (1952).
- ⁴⁸² Ellis and Petrow, J. Chem. Soc., **1952**, 2246.
- ⁴⁸³ Kritchevsky, Garmaise, and Gallagher, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74, 483 (1952).
- ⁴⁸⁴ Ames and Bowman, J. Chem. Soc., 1952, 677.
- ⁴⁸⁵ Raphael, J. Chem. Soc., 1952, 401.
- ⁴⁸⁶ Lahey and Strasser, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 873.
- ⁴⁸⁷ Barton and Brooks, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 257.
- ⁴⁸⁸ Manson and Spring, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 3332.
- ⁴⁸⁹ Pigulevskii and Starostiva, *Doklady Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R.*, **79**, 261 (1951) [C. A., **46**, 3003 (1952)].
 - ⁴⁹⁰ Barton and Bruun, J. Chem. Soc., **1952**, 1683.
 - ⁴⁹¹ Bradley, Forrest, and Stephenson, J. Chem. Soc., 1951, 2877.
 - ⁴⁹² Heuberger and Owen, J. Chem. Soc., **1952**, 910.